
Date Published:3 September 2019     

County Council

Wednesday, 11 September 2019 at 10am

Council Chamber - Shire Hall, Gloucester

Chief Executive

A G E N D A

Chair’s Opening of Council

“May we find wisdom to carry out our duties, humanity to listen to all, the courage to do 
what is right and the generosity to treat each other with respect.”

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

2  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 26)

To confirm and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 26 June 2019.

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or other interests that you may 
have relating to any relevant matters due to be discussed at the meeting.  You should 
do this by signing the form at the back of the Council Chamber and you may also 
make an oral declaration if you so wish.  If you become aware of an interest you have 
during the course of the meeting, you should declare it orally at the time you become 
aware of it and sign the form at the back of the Chamber at the end of the meeting.



    

4  ANNOUNCEMENTS 

a) Jane Burns
To note that this will be the last Council meeting for Jane Burns,
Director of Strategy and Challenge and Monitoring Officer, who is leaving the 
Council to join Cheshire East Council as Executive Director, Corporate 
Services.

b) Steve Mawson
To welcome Steve Mawson as the Council’s new Director of Corporate 
Resources.

c) Gloucester Heritage Hub
To thank those members who attended the opening of the Gloucester Heritage 
Hub, incorporating Gloucestershire Archives, on 3 September 2019.  The Hub 
includes the Dunrossil Centre which was opened by Lady Dunrossil herself.

d) Prism
Staff from the Prism Group, the Council’s LGBTQIA+ community, will be on the 
Council Chamber landing over the lunch break to provide information on their 
activities.

e) ICT support
Staff from ICT will be on hand over the lunch break to provide advice to 
members.

5  PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item.

To answer any written public questions about matters which are within the powers 
and duties of the County Council. 

The closing date for receipt of questions is 10am on Wednesday, 4 September 
2019. Please send questions to the Chief Executive marked for the attention of 
Stephen Bace (email stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk). 

Questions received and proposed responses do not accompany this agenda but will 
be available prior to the meeting. 

mailto:stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

6  CORPORATE PARENTING (Pages 27 - 30)

Report from Cllr Richard Boyles, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Children’s 
Safeguarding and Early Years.

7  PETITIONS 

To receive petitions presented by members without discussion.

8  MOTIONS 

The Council’s Constitution provides for a maximum of two hours for debate on 
motions.  At the end of the two hour period, those members who have already 
indicated their intention to speak on the motion being debated at that time will be 
allowed to speak, the mover of the motion will be asked to sum-up and the vote will 
be taken.

The time limit for member speeches is three minutes and the time limit for proposing 
a motion is five minutes.

The following motions were received by the closing date of 10am on 3 September 
2019:  

Motion 843 – Enabling road safety measures
Proposed by Cllr Klara Sudbury
Seconded by Cllr Eva Ward

This Council notes that:
 road safety and traffic speeds are of significant concern to many residents in 

Gloucestershire, in both urban and rural areas.
 elected county councillors have a key role to play, working with local 

communities, to resolve these concerns, finding effective road safety solutions 
to help pedestrians, cyclists and all road users. 

However, this Council further notes that:
 when County Councillors request measures to reduce traffic speeds, even 

when offering to put their highways local funds towards it, policy and financial 
constraints mean they rarely come to fruition.

 a key obstacle in securing some traffic calming measures is the cost of Traffic 
Regulation Orders (TRO) and the lengthy processes needed to secure 
changes such as yellow lines.



    

Therefore this Council resolves to:
a) Ask Cabinet to review County Council policies relating to traffic calming, 

including the use of physical design and vehicle activated signage, to aid 
councillors in securing evidence-based road changes.

b) Write to the relevant Secretary of State to:
i) Express our serious concern that national road safety guidelines are too 

restrictive and ask for the guidance to be reviewed to create a more 
enabling policy framework.

ii) Clarify what progress has been made to simplify the TRO process.
c) Consider increasing the road safety budget for 2020-21 through the budget 

setting process, which could include a ring fenced budget for each council 
division.  

d) Build on existing local road safety initiatives to establish ‘road safety 
partnerships’ for each of the six districts where there are none, and to 
formalise the relationship between road safety partnerships and the highways 
authority and county councillors.

Motion 844 – Future proofing public buildings and developments in 
Gloucestershire 
Proposed by Cllr Paul Hodgkinson
Seconded by Cllr Ben Evans

This Council notes:
 That a ‘climate emergency’ was declared by Gloucestershire County Council 

(GC) in May 2019, along with five of the six district councils. 
 That the County Council is striving to become carbon neutral by 2030 and is 

identifying measures to deliver an 80 per cent reduction in greenhouse gas 
emissions across the whole county by the same date.

This Council further notes:
 GCC holds significant sway over the design of county-council-backed public 

buildings, such as the proposed new secondary school in Leckhampton.
 GCC has significant influence over developers when disposing of land for 

development.  
 In 2006 the Government made a pledge to make all new-build homes zero 

carbon by 2016, a commitment dropped by the Conservative Chancellor of the 
Exchequer in 2015.

 Without ambitious incentives, most developers are likely to prioritise cost over 
greener methods of construction.

 Carbon dioxide emissions from housing currently makes up a third of all the 
UK’s greenhouse gas emissions, a figure which is predicted to rise to over 50 
per cent by 2050.    



    

This Council requests that the Cabinet:
 Ensure that all new public buildings commissioned are carbon neutral 

throughout their entire life-span (with GCC funding Gloucestershire-based 
carbon offsetting to capture any technically unavoidable performance gap).

 Legally bind developers, or work with procured developers, to ensure that all 
residential and commercial developments on GCC disposed land are carbon 
neutral throughout their entire life-span (with GCC or developers funding 
Gloucestershire-based carbon offsetting to capture any technically 
unavoidable performance gap).

Motion 845 – Equality and diversity 
Proposed by Cllr Kate Haigh
Seconded by Cllr Steve Robinson

This Council notes that:

Gloucestershire County Council is committed to equality and diversity.

Across parties, we stand together to promote and celebrate diversity in our county 
standing against intolerance and hate crime.

The Council continues to create positive opportunities to employ a workforce 
that’s representative of the county’s communities, and provide a safe and 
accessible work environment that values and respects each individual.

The Council plays a crucial roll in promoting and fostering good relations within our 
communities and the relationship they have with the Council.

This Council resolves to:
a) Commit to creating a Gloucestershire community that is strong, safe and 

inclusive for everyone.
b) Set up a cross party equalities working group chaired by the Leader of the 

Council (or nominated Cabinet Member) which will draw up an equalities 
action plan bringing together the work on all equalities strands into a common 
document.

c) Make a cross-party commitment to fostering diversity and promoting equality 
for all residents, Members and members of staff.

d) Take action throughout the year to celebrate the County’s diversity by:
i) Having a programme of flag-flying and support for key awareness days 

throughout the County.
ii) Supporting our communities to celebrate what’s important to them.



    

Motion 846 - Tree planting
Proposed by Cllr Lesley Williams
Seconded by Cllr Graham Morgan

This Council passed a motion on 15th May 2019 recognising that there is a climate 
emergency.

This Council committed to an 80% reduction in the corporate carbon emissions no 
later than 2030, striving to 100% with carbon offset by the same date. Research now 
shows that planting billions of trees is the best and cheapest way to tackle climate 
change.

This Council resolves to request Cabinet to develop a policy of tree planting; with a 
target of planting 2 trees for each Gloucestershire resident by 2030, if not sooner, and 
to work with tenant farmers and encourage at least 2 trees per field for most pasture 
land.

I ask that a progress report is included in the annual Environmental report.

Motion 847 - Against Prorogation of Parliament
Proposed by Cllr Lesley Williams
Seconded by Cllr Paul Hodgkinson

This Council regards the decision by Prime Minister Boris Johnson to prorogue 
Parliament for five weeks, until 14 October, as an extraordinary abuse of the British 
constitution.  

This Council believes that the decision to prorogue Parliament has little to do with 
recalibrating the new Government’s policies with a Queen’s speech and everything to 
do with minimising the opportunity for elected representatives to debate Brexit.

This Council also notes the number of people protesting in Gloucestershire and 
nationwide and recognises that residents are appalled by the undemocratic move 
made by a Prime Minister who was recently appointed by a small number of 
Conservative members.  

This Council requests the that Leader of the Council write to the Prime Minister 
calling for Parliament to be recalled at the first possible opportunity.

9  MEMBER QUESTIONS 

Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item.



    

To answer any written member questions about matters which are within the powers 
and duties of the County Council. 

The closing date for receipt of questions is 10am on Wednesday, 4 September 
2019. Please send questions to the Chief Executive marked for the attention of 
Stephen Bace (email stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk). 

Questions received and proposed responses do not accompany this agenda but will 
be available prior to the meeting.

10  SCRUTINY REPORT (Pages 31 - 32)

Cllr Shaun Parsons, Chair of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee, to 
present the report on recent scrutiny activities.

11  SAFETY, HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENT (SHE) REPORT (Pages 33 - 62)

Cllr David Norman to present the SHE Annual Report.

12  CABINET DECISION STATEMENT (Pages 63 - 70)

To consider the Cabinet Decision Statement for the meeting held on 24 July 2019.

13  CABINET MEMBER DECISION STATEMENTS (Pages 71 - 76)

To consider the Cabinet Member Decision Statements for the period 1 June to 31 
August 2019.

14  GLOUCESTERSHIRE HOSPITALS NHS FOUNDATION TRUST COUNCIL OF 
GOVERNORS 

To appoint a member to sit on this body to replace Cllr Andrew Gravells who has 
stepped down following his appointment as a Cabinet Member at Gloucester City 
Council.

15  CALENDAR OF MEETINGS (Pages 77 - 78)

To approve the calendar of meetings for 2020.

mailto:stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

RECORDING MEETINGS, INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL 
QUERIES – Please note that full Council meetings are webcast and may be 
viewed on the Council’s website (www.gloucestershire.gov.uk). If you wish to 
inspect reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general 
queries about the meeting, please contact:

Simon Harper, Head of Democratic Services
 01452 324202, email simon.harper@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is permitted subject to the 
Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please contact Democratic Services 
to make the necessary arrangements ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the 
public and do not wish to be photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services 
Officer on duty at the meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting 
please leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which 
is outside the main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and 
await further instructions.

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/
mailto:simon.harper@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

MINUTES OF COUNTY COUNCIL MEETING
DATE: Wednesday, 26 June 2019 at 10am
VENUE: Council Chamber - Shire Hall, Gloucester

Present
Membership:

Cllr Phil Awford
Cllr Matt Babbage
Cllr Robert Bird
Cllr Richard Boyles
Cllr Chris Coleman
Cllr Dr John Cordwell
Cllr Kevin Cromwell
Cllr Iain Dobie
Cllr Ben Evans
Cllr Bernard Fisher
Cllr Andrew Gravells 
Cllr Kate Haigh
Cllr Terry Hale
Cllr Tim Harman
Cllr Joe Harris
Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE
Cllr Colin Hay
Cllr Jeremy Hilton

Cllr Stephen Hirst
Cllr Paul Hodgkinson
Cllr Carole Allaway Martin
Cllr Dr Andrew Miller
Cllr Patrick Molyneux 
Cllr Nigel Moor
Cllr Graham Morgan
Cllr David Norman MBE
Cllr Brian Oosthuysen
Cllr Shaun Parsons
Cllr Sajid Patel
Cllr Loraine Patrick
Cllr John Payne
Cllr Alan Preest (Vice-
chairman)
Cllr Keith Rippington
Cllr Brian Robinson

Cllr Steve Robinson
Cllr Rachel Smith
Cllr Vernon Smith
Cllr Lynden Stowe
Cllr Klara Sudbury
Cllr Ray Theodoulou 
(Chairman)
Cllr Brian Tipper
Cllr Pam Tracey MBE
Cllr Robert Vines
Cllr Eva Ward
Cllr Simon Wheeler
Cllr Kathy Williams
Cllr Lesley Williams MBE
Cllr Suzanne Williams
Cllr Roger Wilson
Cllr Will Windsor-Clive

Apologies: Cllrs David Brown, Stephen  Davies and Nigel Robbins OBE

Honorary Aldermen Bill Crowther, Jackie Hall, Bill Hobman, Terry Parker 
and Gordon Shurmer.

37. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 15 May 2019 were confirmed and signed as a 
correct record.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

38. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

A copy of the declarations of interest is attached to the signed copy of the minutes.

39. ANNOUNCEMENTS 

a) Honours
The Chairman congratulated the following people from Gloucestershire who 
had been recognised in the Queen’s Birthday Honours:

 Timothy Hutchinson (Newland, Coleford) – awarded a CBE for 
services to publishing and literature.

 Professor John Latham (Chipping Camden) – awarded a CBE for 
services to higher education.

 Former Superintendent Gavin Thomas (Gloucestershire 
Constabulary) – awarded an OBE for services to policing.

 Tony Allcock MBE (formerly of Cheltenham) – awarded an OBE for 
services to lawn bowls.

 Julie Dyer (Stonehouse) – awarded an MBE for services to young 
people with special needs.

 Former District Councillor Jane Horne (Newent) – awarded an MBE 
for voluntary and charitable services to the community in the Forest of 
Dean.

 Roger Maggs (Tetbury) – awarded an MBE for services to the 
economy in Wales.

 Peter Pepys-Goodchild (Cheltenham) – awarded an MBE for public 
and political service.

 Frances Watson (Painswick) – awarded an MBE for services to 
people with learning disabilities.

 Dr Peter Whitehead (Priors Norton) – awarded an MBE for services to 
equestrian sport science and medicine. 

 Roger Beard (Newent) – awarded a BEM for services to the 
community in Newent.

 Bren McInerney (Longford) – awarded a BEM for services to 
volunteering, the public sector and the community.

 Simon Paul (Lechlade) – awarded a BEM for services to the 
community.

 
b) Nelson Trust

The Chairman congratulated the Nelson Trust, a Stroud based charity, on 
their winning entry at the Charity Awards for the category covering social 
care, advice and support.  The project provided street sex workers in 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

Gloucestershire, Swindon and Wiltshire with one-to-one support on 
overcoming addiction, protecting themselves against sexual violence, finding 
safe and stable homes and leaving sex work.

c) Mental Health First Aid
It was noted that two sessions for members run by Richard Castle, 
Independent Mental Health and Trauma Rehabilitation Consultant, would be 
held on Wednesday, 2 October 2019 at 1pm and Thursday, 31 October at 
1pm.  The Chairman asked members to inform Democratic Services of which 
session they preferred to attend.  

d) Archives and Records Association Volunteer Award
The Chairman congratulated Gloucestershire Archives on winning the 
National Archives Volunteering Award 2019 for its pioneering work with 200 
volunteers.  The panel was particularly impressed by the breadth of 
community partners, the vision and creativity, as well as the level of 
audience engagement and development achieved. 

40. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

Twenty-five questions had been received.  A copy of the answers was circulated 
and is attached to the signed copy of the minutes.

Question 3 – Steve Gower stated that at the last meeting the Cabinet Member had 
said in relation to his question on homelessness that there were some people she 
had come across who did not want housing. He provided details of figures around 
record numbers of deaths in supported living in 2018 and his concerns about a 
member of the public who had subsequently died. He asked whether the member 
felt that the homeless provision in Gloucester was fit for purpose and what would be 
done to change the previous nine years of provision that was not fit for purpose?

Cllr Kathy Williams replied that the question was not a supplementary for the 
previous question and invited the member of the public to submit it for a written 
response. 

Question 6 – Vicki Hewer raised concerns about the removal of the Pulhams 801 
bus service. She asked whether the Council would provide financial support to keep 
the service going? She stated that there needed to be a service that matches the 
morning travel and return in the evening for those attending school or college.

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

Cllr Nigel Moor replied that he would be happy to meet with Northleach Town 
Council to discuss what options were available. The Council had not received 
notice from the operator around any proposals for changes at this stage.

Question 10 – Gerald Hartley raised concerns regarding who would make a bid for 
monitoring equipment for local emissions from the residual waste plant for Hunts 
Grove School as Hunts Grove would not become a parish until May 2020. He also 
stated that the ‘well established advice’ detailed in Cllr Moor’s answer to his 
question had been revealed to have been given in advance of a study that had 
been commissioning by Public Health England on this matter. He asked for a clear 
commitment from the County Council that the monitoring of emissions would 
happen.

Cllr Nigel Moor replied that he would be happy to take the issue away to consider 
how to progress. He noted that emissions would be regularly monitored with work 
underway in conjunction with the Environment Agency.

Question 11 – Dr Richard House asked when the County Council would be 
informing Gloucestershire residents about 5G related risks to health and the 
environment. What risk assessments were the Council intending to carry out and 
what precautionary steps would be in place?

Cllr Patrick Molyneux replied that there was no 5G rollout at this stage and that the 
coordination would be through Central Government. It was too early to consider this 
in that level of detail.

Question 24 – Lorraine Du Feu stated that the current provision for cyclists was 
appalling, noting that a recent report had shown that white lines and symbols on 
busy roads was a pointless gesture. She asked what money was being spent on 
cycling and with regards to the A417 would it not be better for the Council to invest 
money elsewhere rather than on cars.

In response, Cllr Nigel Moor stated that the Council was investing a great deal in 
cycling. He cited the Cheltenham to Gloucester and Cheltenham to Bishops Cleeve 
cycle routes that were being developed. £30,000 had already been committed to 
mapping cycle routes in the county and he was proud of the work that was 
underway. With regards to the A417 Missing Link this was addressing an existing 
environmental issue. 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

Question 25 – Bren McInerney asked what explicit and meaningful measures was 
the Council planning in order to ensure the achievement of strategic goals around 
addressing health inequalities.

Cllr Tim Harman stated that the process was ongoing and that this was important 
work to deal with the inequalities in the County. He would be happy to meet with the 
Mr McInerney to discuss any ideas he might have. 

41. CORPORATE PARENTING 

Cllr Richard Boyles, Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years, 
presented the report which provided information on Gloucestershire’s Fostering 
Service.  He explained that the Fostering Service was a key part of the 
Gloucestershire Sufficiency Strategy including ‘Right Placement First Time’.  The 
strategy set a target of March 2022 to achieve 80% of children who were living with 
foster carers to be placed with Gloucestershire foster carers, with the remaining 
20% placed with independent carers. He recognised that the recruitment and 
retention of foster carers was critical to the future approach.  He encouraged 
members to attend Fostering Support Groups in their areas to understand the 
issues that foster parents face. 

Members acknowledged the quality of the service offered by the Council’s Fostering 
Service with an increasing number of foster carers returning to the Council from 
agencies due to the better level of support.  The Chairman asked that staff be 
thanked for their outstanding work. 

Some concern was expressed that the number of children in care continued to rise 
with a current figure of 717.  Members were anxious to better understand why this 
was happening and they asked for more information on the action that was being 
taken.  They enquired how many of the children in care were under Section 20 
voluntary arrangements with families.  

Cllr Boyles explained that it was a complex situation that local authorities across the 
county were facing and there was no easy fix.  He said that neglect in early years 
was a key issue.  He undertook to circulate an action plan that had been 
developed.  He noted that around 30% of children in care fell into the Section 20 
category. As a result of the poor service in the past more children were coming into 
care later than they should have.  Criminal activity around ‘county lines’ was also a 
significant factor. 

Cllr Boyles noted that the new Corporate Parenting Pledge had been drawn up by 
the Corporate Parenting Group after a lot of discussion.  It had been drafted in such 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

a way that all councillors should be able sign it.  He assured members that officers 
would in future be emailing them to raise awareness of events, both in their own 
area and across the county.

RESOLVED to note the report.

42. PETITIONS 

No petitions were presented by members.

43. MOTIONS 

Motion 839 – Every Child Matters
Having declared a disclosable pecuniary interest, Cllr Ben Evans left the chamber 
for this item.

The proposer Cllr Lesley Williams and seconder Cllr Brian Oosthuysen indicated 
that they wished to make an amendment to their motion (see the highlighted text).

This Council recognises that every child in Gloucestershire deserves the best 
education possible. 

This Council recognises that the county has some schools that do give children  an 
education that equips them for the best possible start in life. However this Council  
should also recognise that some schools do not meet the required standard to 
deliver a high quality  education.

Gloucestershire County Council continues to play an important part in the education 
of all young people in the County. 

This Council also recognises that it is Central Government’s intention that all school 
should become academies or part of a multi academy trust.

That this Council call upon the Cabinet Member to provide a report to Council on 
the attainment and achievement of students living and educated in the County and 
providing an analysis by home district and division.  This report to form the basis of 
the County Council’s response to changing need for schools across the county.  

Cllr Williams stated that, although some schools were performing well, there were 
too many schools rated by Ofsted as poor or inadequate.  She referred to the 
scrutiny reviews of school exclusions and secondary school performance in the 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

Forest of Dean which identified a number of serious concerns.  At the last Children 
and Families Scrutiny Committee, the Regional Schools Commissioner highlighted 
that Gloucestershire historically had a high rate of exclusions and the Council had 
taken a neutral position in terms of the action it had taken.  

Cllr Oosthuysen noted that local authorities had a long and proud history of 
involvement in schools.  He said that too many schools were in desperate need of 
support and guidance.  A detailed analysis of the attainment and achievement of 
students across the county was needed to assess the position properly.  He was 
anxious that the Council did whatever it could to ensure that every child in 
Gloucestershire got the best opportunity.

A member referred to the poor state of some school buildings and he feared that 
unless urgent action was taken some schools might be forced to close. 

Cllr Patrick Molyneux, the Cabinet Member for Economy, Skills and Growth, 
recognised that a good education in the county was essential for a good start in life.  
He proposed an amendment that the report be presented to the Children and 
Families Scrutiny Committee so that members could look at the issues in greater 
depth.  He said that he was aware of the difficulties suffered by some schools 
including a number of secondary schools in the Forest of Dean.  

In seconding the amendment, Cllr Mark Hawthorne, Leader of the Council, noted 
that Gloucestershire had been leading the F40 campaign for fairer funding for 
schools. He was concerned that despite extensive lobbying children in the county 
received significantly less funding than many other areas.  He hoped that the 
Government’s fairer funding review would result in a more equitable distribution of 
funding.  He recognised concerns around school exclusions but he said that the 
position was improving.  Secondary school exclusions were down by 23% and 
primary school exclusions had fallen by 50%.

After a short adjournment, Cllr Williams and Cllr Oosthuysen accepted the 
amendment as friendly. She accepted that the report would be presented to 
scrutiny but was anxious that the outcome of the review was presented to full 
Council.

A member expressed concern that the rate of exclusions remained high and 
published figures indicated that they were much higher than elsewhere.  

Another member advised that 70% of children in two secondary schools that served 
his division were from outside the area with a significant number travelling to the 
schools from outside the county. This resulted in a real problem with the provision 
of quality secondary education in the North Gloucester area.  He believed that a 

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

critical look at the fundamentals of the education system was required as there 
were a number of failing secondary schools where children were not getting the 
education they deserved.    

A member expressed particular concern about the number of children being 
educated at home.  She noted that the two grammar schools in Stroud attracted a 
large number of children from Swindon and other areas outside the county.  

Another member stated that schools were haemorrhaging staff because the 
education system had been neglected and had not received the funds it needed for 
a number of years.  He also referred to home to school transport and the money 
that parents were having to spend getting their children to school. 
Cllr Richard Boyles, Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years, 
believed that it was important that the grammar schools in Gloucestershire were 
accessible to children from across the county.  He was concerned, however, about 
the number of children travelling into the county but he said that was a matter for 
the grammar schools to address themselves.  

On being put to the vote, the amended motion received unanimous support.

RESOLVED that

This Council recognises that every child in Gloucestershire deserves the best 
education possible. 

This Council recognises that the county has some schools that do give children  an 
education that equips them for the best possible start in life. However this Council  
should also recognise that some schools do not meet the required standard to 
deliver a high quality  education.

Gloucestershire County Council continues to play an important part in the education 
of all young people in the County. 

This Council also recognises that it is Central Government’s intention that all school 
should become academies or part of a multi academy trust.

That this Council call upon the Cabinet Member to provide a report to  Children and 
Families Scrutiny Committee on the attainment and achievement of students living 
and educated in the County and providing an analysis by home district and division.  
This report to form the basis of the County Council’s response to changing need for 
schools across the county.

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

Motion 840 – Terminally ill employees
The proposer Cllr Kate Haigh and seconder Cllr Lesley Williams indicated that they 
wished to make an amendment to their motion (see the highlighted text).

This Council notes that terminally ill employees are not currently always protected 
under national disability legislation and can therefore be dismissed if they are no 
longer able to conduct their role with reasonable adjustments. This can mean that 
terminally ill people can be subjected to stressful assessments, subsequent 
dismissal and the loss of death in service benefits – all following the diagnosis of a 
terminal illness. 
 
This Council believes that those receiving a terminal diagnosis are entitled to dignity 
at work.
 
This Council resolves to:

 Review sick pay and sickness absence procedures, with specific reference 
to those with a terminal diagnosis.

 Make a commitment not to dismiss a member of staff with a terminal illness, 
due to their condition, other than by agreement.

 Ensure that the Council has a competent programme with the capacity to 
provide support to any person with a terminal diagnosis.

 Provide staff training on dealing with terminal illnesses
 Ensure that Human Resources have procedures in place to make necessary 

adaptations to work arrangements for staff with a terminal illness.
 Sign and adopt the TUC’s dying to work charter 

Cllr Haigh explained that she was not bringing the motion because there was 
anything wrong with Council practices but to show leadership and support for the 
TUC’s Dying to Work Charter.  The charter included a set of principles which 
ensured that members of staff with a terminal diagnosis were treated in the right 
way.

Cllr Lynden Stowe, Cabinet Member for Finance and Change, supported the motion 
and was pleased to report that Council practices were better than those included in 
the TUC charter.  He assured members that the Council would only end a contract 
if it was in the best interests of the member of staff concerned.  He believed that 
this confirmed the Council’s commitment as a sympathetic and compassionate 
employer.

Cllr Williams stated that he was reassured that the Council acted in the best 
interests of staff at all times.

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

Cllr Haigh requested that Cllr Stowe join her to formally sign the TUC Dying to Work 
Charter on behalf of the Council.

On being put to a vote, the amended motion received unanimous support.

RESOLVED that

This Council notes that terminally ill employees are not currently always protected 
under national disability legislation and can therefore be dismissed if they are no 
longer able to conduct their role with reasonable adjustments. This can mean that 
terminally ill people can be subjected to stressful assessments, subsequent 
dismissal and the loss of death in service benefits – all following the diagnosis of a 
terminal illness. 
 
This Council believes that those receiving a terminal diagnosis are entitled to dignity 
at work.
 
This Council resolves to:

 Review sick pay and sickness absence procedures, with specific reference 
to those with a terminal diagnosis.

 Make a commitment not to dismiss a member of staff with a terminal illness, 
due to their condition, other than by agreement.

 Ensure that the Council has a competent programme with the capacity to 
provide support to any person with a terminal diagnosis.

 Provide staff training on dealing with terminal illnesses
 Ensure that Human Resources have procedures in place to make necessary 

adaptations to work arrangements for staff with a terminal illness.
 Sign and adopt the TUC’s dying to work charter 

Motion 841 – Gloucestershire Youth Council
Cllr Paul Hodgkinson proposed and Cllr Jeremy Hilton seconded the motion on the 
agenda.

Cllr Hodgkinson read out the following quote from Article 12 of the United Nations 
Convention on the Rights of the Child: ‘Children who are capable of forming their 
own views must have the right to express those views freely in all matters affecting 
them. And children should be provided the best opportunity to be heard in any 
proceedings that affect them.’

He believed that as elected members, county councillors had a responsibility for 
ensuring that young people were given an opportunity to express their views.  He 

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

noted that the average county councillor in the country was a white male aged 59.  
He said that it was important to hear the voice of young people on a range of issues 
including knife crime, drugs awareness, climate change, education, voting age and 
why so many of them left the county.

He was aware of a number of successful youth councils across the county but 
believed that there would be real value in establishing a Gloucestershire Youth 
Council by the time of the next County Council election in May 2021.  

Cllr Hilton said that it was important that young people were able to interact with the 
County Council and other public bodies and express their views. An election 
process that coincided with the County Council election would allow young people 
to participate in voting at an early age.  

Cllr Mark Hawthorne moved the following amendment (see the changes in 
highlighted text):

This Council notes that:
 There are nearly 40,000 young people, aged 11-18 in Gloucestershire, 

representing a significant proportion of the county’s population.
 Youth councils have the potential to benefit those involved by giving 

participants a sense of control in decision-making processes as well as 
developing participants’ skill-sets.

 Youth councils have the potential to benefit the wider community by bringing 
fresh ideas and solutions to the Council.

The Council also notes the work of District Councils, the Police and Crime 
Commissioner and the NHS to engage more effectively with young people in 
Gloucestershire.

This Council further notes that Gloucestershire’s inability to retain and attract young 
adults has been identified as one of the critical challenges to the economic viability 
of the county.

This Council therefore resolves to work towards establishing a Gloucestershire 
Youth Council by 2021 to coincide with the wider Gloucestershire County Council 
elections with Leadership Gloucestershire to establish a Youth Council to give 
young people a voice on the issues that affect them across Gloucestershire, 
irrespective of which body is responsible for those services.

He welcomed the sentiments of the original motion to ensure that the young voice 
in Gloucestershire was heard but he said that it was about more than just the 
County Council.  He noted the importance of young people having a voice in the 

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 12 -

decision making of other public agencies including Health, Police and the District 
Councils.  He believed that the Council should not try to reinvent the wheel but build 
on the good arrangements that were already in place.  He stated that Leadership 
Gloucestershire with representation from key public sector partners in the county 
was well placed to coordinate this process.  He hoped that it would be possible to 
engage with young people across the county and not just those that wanted to 
stand for election.  He questioned why it was necessary to wait two years and 
suggested that the process start now.

The amendment was seconded by Cllr Richard Boyles who reserved his right to 
speak.

A number of members believed that the County Council should lead the process in 
setting up a Gloucestershire Youth Council. They expressed concern that the 
involvement of Leadership Gloucestershire would blur the lines of accountability 
and it might not be clear who was responsible.  They were supportive of an election 
process that coincided with the County Council elections in 2021 and were anxious 
that adequate resources were provided to set up and run the Youth Council.

Cllr Roger Wilson, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Commissioning and Chair 
of the Health and Wellbeing Board, highlighted the Board’s commitment to 
engaging with young people and ensuring that their views were taken account of in 
the decision making process. He noted that children from 96% of schools in the 
county had participated in the last pupil survey and the results had been published.  

In seconding the amendment, Cllr Richard Boyles said that the Council was 
currently engaging with young people as part of an overarching strategy with the 
Police and Crime Commissioner and the Health Wellbeing Board.  He also noted 
the role of the Ambassadors for Children’s Services in providing feedback on 
Council services. 

On being put to the vote, the amendment was carried.  The amended motion 
received unanimous support.

RESOLVED that 

This Council notes that:
 There are nearly 40,000 young people, aged 11-18 in Gloucestershire, 

representing a significant proportion of the county’s population.
 Youth councils have the potential to benefit those involved by giving 

participants a sense of control in decision-making processes as well as 
developing participants’ skill-sets.

Page 12



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 13 -

 Youth councils have the potential to benefit the wider community by bringing 
fresh ideas and solutions to the Council.

The Council also notes the work of district councils, the police and crime 
commissioner and the NHS to engage more effectively with young people in 
Gloucestershire.

This Council further notes that Gloucestershire’s inability to retain and attract young 
adults has been identified as one of the critical challenges to the economic viability 
of the county.

This Council therefore resolves to work with Leadership Gloucestershire to 
establish a Youth Council to give young people a voice on the issues that affect 
them across Gloucestershire, irrespective of which body is responsible for those 
services.

Motion 842 – SkillZONE
The proposer Cllr Colin Hay and seconder Cllr Dr John Cordwell indicated that they 
wished to make an amendment to their motion (see the highlighted text).

This Council notes:
 That children newly-going to secondary school are expected to travel with 

much more independence than they were at primary school.
 That these children are particularly vulnerable to pedestrian related road 

traffic accidents.
 That Gloucestershire’s SkillZONE centre is an interactive learning 

environment which, amongst a range of other life skills, teaches road-safety 
to school pupils.

This Council further notes:
 That for two financial years, up until 2016, Gloucestershire County Council 

covered the admission and transportation costs incurred by schools following 
a budget amendment proposed by the Liberal Democrats; enabling identified 
Key Stage Two and Three students to attend SkillZONE to learn road safety 
skills or to become safe journey ambassadors.

 That the lessons learned by pupils attending SkillZONE benefitted not just 
themselves but also their classmates and the wider school.

 That school finances are particularly stretched at this moment, leaving little 
money for non-essential activities.

 That after this scheme ended there was a near halving in the number of 
school children able to attend SkillZONE

Page 13



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 14 -

This Council resolves to ask the Cabinet to explore opportunities to reintroduce the 
scheme to cover the admission and transportation costs for all identified schools 
wishing to send Key Stage 2 and 3 students to SkillZONE from September 2019.   

Cllr Hay advised that one child died on the road every day and more than 30 were 
seriously injured.  He noted that there was a marked increase in the number of 
injuries to children between the ages of 11 and 12 with most accidents happening 
between 3pm and 6pm.  The accidents had a dreadful impact on children and their 
families along with schools and the local community.  There was strong evidence 
that education and awareness had a significant impact on reducing casualties.  

Gloucestershire was fortunate in having SkillZONE which had a strong record in 
educating children on critical life skills including road safety.  For 2015-16 and 
2016-17 additional funding had been included in the Council budget through a 
budget amendment for school children to go to SkillZONE.  Without dedicated 
funding since 2018-19 the number of school children visiting had dropped 
dramatically. He hoped that in-year funding could be secured to allow free travel 
and attendance to start again in September 2019.

Cllr Dr Cordwell noted that three of the four motions being considered that day 
related to children and he believed that it was important that the SkillZONE facility 
was fully utilised.  He said that as well as road safety, children had the opportunity 
to learn about safety near railway lines, stranger danger and safety around water.

Cllr Dave Norman, Cabinet Member for Public Protection, stated that he had been 
involved in the development of SkillZONE when he was working for Gloucestershire 
Fire and Rescue Service.  He recognised that SkillZONE did vital work in educating 
children about safety in a number of life-like situations. He undertook to explore 
opportunities for providing the necessary funding and report back to members on 
progress. He encouraged members to visit SkillZONE themselves and offered to 
provide them with a guided tour. He hoped members would encourage people in 
their own communities to visit.

A member indicated support for the motion but she called on the Council to take 
action on the ground by making more space available for walking and cycling.  She 
said that in itself would go a long way to improving road safety.    

Another member stated that he was surprised that providing funds for year 5 
children to visit SkillZONE had not been incorporated in the Council’s base budget.  
He noted that children who visited the facility often educated their own families so 
there were wider benefits.

Page 14



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 15 -

A member said that research indicated that one of the main reasons why 11 and 12 
years olds starting secondary school were more likely to be injured in  road 
accidents was that they had little or no experience of travelling to school when they 
were at primary school.  

Cllr Mark Hawthorne, Leader of the Council, noted that the Cabinet Member had 
made an undertaking to look at the issue and to keep members informed.  He 
stated that SkillZone was an excellent facility which was built by the Council when it 
was facing serious financial constraints.  He confirmed that the Council remained 
committed to ensuring that as many children as possible visited the facility.

Two members raised particular concerns about the County Council’s inability to 
address road safety issues around schools in their own divisions.  They said that 
proposals had been put forward with the support of the local community but they 
had either not been implemented or were taking too long to be put in place.

On being put to the vote, the amended motion received unanimous support. 

RESOLVED that

This Council notes:
 That children newly-going to secondary school are expected to travel with 

much more independence than they were at primary school.
 That these children are particularly vulnerable to pedestrian related road 

traffic accidents.
 That Gloucestershire’s SkillZONE centre is an interactive learning 

environment which, amongst a range of other life skills, teaches road-safety 
to school pupils.

This Council further notes:
 That for two financial years, up until 2016, Gloucestershire County Council 

covered the admission and transportation costs incurred by schools following 
a budget amendment proposed by the Liberal Democrats; enabling identified 
Key Stage Two and Three students to attend SkillZONE to learn road safety 
skills or to become safe journey ambassadors.

 That the lessons learned by pupils attending SkillZONE benefitted not just 
themselves but also their classmates and the wider school.

 That school finances are particularly stretched at this moment, leaving little 
money for non-essential activities.

 That after this scheme ended there was a near halving in the number of 
school children able to attend SkillZONE

Page 15



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 16 -

This Council resolves to ask the Cabinet to explore opportunities to reintroduce the 
scheme to cover the admission and transportation costs for all identified schools 
wishing to send Key Stage 2 and 3 students to SkillZONE from September 2019.

44. MEMBER QUESTIONS 

Thirty questions had been received.  A copy of the answers was circulated and is 
attached to the signed copy of the minutes.

Question 1 – Cllr Klara Sudbury asked whether the Cabinet Member would support 
the suggestion for an increase in investment for road safety in the 2020/21 budget 
with a dedicated budget to use in divisions for traffic calming measures.

Cllr Dave Norman replied that he could not make that commitment today but that he 
would speak to Cabinet colleagues about how to take things forward.

Question 2 – Cllr Klara Sudbury asked what the specific barriers were that were 
preventing members getting traffic calming schemes up and running.

In response, Cllr Dave Norman replied that often there were delays due to needing 
to put Traffic Regulation Orders in place. He would be happy to discuss any 
particularly issues with the member outside of the meeting. 

Question 3 –  Cllr Klara Sudbury asked if the policy to support traffic calming could 
be reviewed to help empower members to make the changes needed.

Cllr Dave Norman stated he would be happy to discuss this with the member.

Question 4 –  Cllr Klara Sudbury asked how the member would look to support 
investment for walking, cycling and public transport going forward.

Cllr Nigel Moor replied that there would be consultation on the strategy later in the 
year.

Question 5 – Cllr Klara Sudbury asked that the County Council issue a media 
release to clarify the situation regarding the Experimental Traffic Regulation order 
as part of the Cheltenham transport Plan Phase 4. She also asked that the website 
show the correct information.

Page 16



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 17 -

Cllr Nigel Moor stated he had approved a press release which would be released.

Question 6 – Cllr Klara Sudbury asked for the representations that had been made 
with regards to Phase 4 be published immediately on the website.

Cllr Nigel Moor replied that a summary had been published on the website and that 
the detailed report would go to the Traffic Regulation Order Committee.

Question 7 – Cllr Klara Sudbury asked if the Cabinet Member would meet with 
herself and highways officers during rush hour to examine the displacement of 
traffic as a result of the work at Boots Corner.

Cllr Vernon Smith replied that he would be happy to do this.

Question 8 – Cllr Klara Sudbury referred to the design of  the junction at St 
George’s Place and asked if the Cabinet member would support her request to 
make this ‘two-way’ in order to make the route safer and more accessible.

Cllr Vernon Smith replied that best practice was being followed but that he would be 
happy to discuss this when they met and go into more detail.

Question 9 – Cllr Klara Sudbury asked if the Cabinet Member would consider 
making St James’ Square a School Street?

Cllr Dave Norman replied that he had provided a response and that he was happy 
to have a wider discussion around road safety with the member outside of the 
Council Chamber. 

Question 10 – Cllr Klara Sudbury asked if the Cabinet Member felt that the 
Gloucestershire Highways Inspection manual was fit for purpose given complaints 
around some potholes being left untouched. Would he agree to review and update 
the policy?

Cllr Vernon Smith replied that the only way to reduce pot holes was through major 
resurfacing and he referenced the £150m investment that was being made.

Page 17



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 18 -

Question 11 – Paul Hodgkinson asked if the Cabinet Member could give a 
timescale as to when a response would be able to be given about the intention of 
Pulhams to cut the bus service in Moreton and Northleach

Cllr Nigel Moor replied that Pulhams had not notified the Council of their intentions 
and that he would be happy to meet with the member and Town Council to explore 
options. He would ask officers to speak to Pulhams and seek an update.

Question 12 – Cllr Colin Hay asked how specifically the Cabinet Member would be 
dealing with those individual children with multiple social workers. How was the 
Council mitigating the issue for those children?

Cllr Richard Boyles said that manager and advanced practitioners worked closely to 
ensure the impact of change in social workers was as small as possible. Changes 
to Liquid Logic, the IT system being used, would help to make this easier to 
manage. More staff were being recruited and the focus was on reducing the 
number of agency workers. 

Question 13 – Cllr Colin Hay asked how the Cabinet Member was planning to get 
more information about off-rolling in order to get a better understanding of the issue.

Cllr Patrick Molyneux stated that it was a national issue, but that Gloucestershire 
had a high number of exclusions. Home education could be an excellent way to 
educate young people, but there were safeguarding considerations as well. He was 
speaking to officers about how best to work with schools and understand the 
pressures. It was important to make sure the Council had the right mechanisms in 
place. 

Question 14 – Cllr Colin Hay suggested that those pupils going off roll should have 
an exit interview to help identify trends. This information could help schools and the 
Regional Commissioner in their roles. 

Cllr Patrick Molyneux replied that this was an interesting idea that he would take 
away. 

Question 15 – Cllr Colin Hay stated that he felt more could be done in terms of 
following up and asking the Environment Agency to ensure that none of the 
County’s plastic was being dumped or burnt in developing countries.

Page 18



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 19 -

Cllr Nigel Moor replied that there was no evidence of that happening but he would 
look into it.

Question 16 – Cllr Dr John Cordwell asked whether there were any ongoing claims 
from car drivers for damage as a result of potholes.

Cllr Vernon Smith replied that he was not aware of any ongoing cases.

Question 17 – Cllr Dr John Cordwell asked if he could have the information for the 
previous year regarding claims from cyclists for damage as a result of potholes.

Cllr Vernon Smith replied that he would ask officers to provide a response.

Question 18 – Cllr Jeremy Hilton asked that when Horton Road was resurfaced that 
the work was properly costed and the foundations of the road strengthened to cope 
with the heavy lorries.

Cllr Vernon Smith replied that he was happy to ensure that highways followed 
national best practice.

Question 19 – Cllr Jeremy Hilton asked if the Cabinet Member felt that it was a 
good use of Highways Local to spend £3,000 to put up a sign to reduce speed 
limits on Sandhurst Lane.  

Cllr Vernon Smith stated that he was keen for Highways Local to be used by 
members, but there was a criteria that would need to be followed. He would work 
with the members and officers to look at this together.                

Question 21 – Cllr Iain Dobie stated that he felt that the County Council Highways 
Team should take the lead regarding the underpasses at Elmbridge Court 
Roundabout to resolve the inadequate lighting.

In response, Cllr Vernon Smith stated that this was the responsibility of Highways 
England and that it had been raised with them.   

Question 22 – Cllr Iain Dobie asked that the cycle route between Cheltenham and 
Gloucester be continuous and separate from the other traffic on the road.

Page 19



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 20 -

Cllr Vernon Smith replied that there had been £1.6 million design investment in this 
area and he would look to move this work forward as part of the strategic plan.

Question 23 –  Cllr Iain Dobie  asked what width was considered safe for cycle 
routes?

Cllr Nigel Moor  replied that in relation to the route between Cheltenham and 
Gloucester he would provide the member with more detail.

Question 24 – Cllr Iain Dobie asked regarding Leckhampton Primary School 
whether it would have new technology to heat the building, either ground or air 
source heating.

Cllr Patrick Molyneux would provide a response to the member in writing.

Question 25 – Cllr Eva Ward explained that a number of residents were concerned 
about the advent of 5G technology. She asked whether lampposts were going to 
hold transmitters and if trees would be chopped down.

Cllr Patrick Molyneux replied that there was no roll out at this stage and that the 
Council was considering its assets which included lampposts. This was with the 
Government at the moment. He understood the concern raised by some residents 
but stated that technology could enhance people’s lives but needed to be done 
properly with consideration of health and safety.

Question 27 – Cllr Colin Hay stated that the Council had been told that there would 
be a post-implementation review within 6 months of the changes to countywide 
parking, 7 years previously. He asked when there would be a post implementation 
review on the schemes.

Cllr Dave Norman replied that he could not answer the question having not been on 
the Council at that time but that he would look into it.

Question 30 – Cllr Rachel Smith asked if the Cabinet Member could provide detail 
of what the greenhouse gas emissions per annum from the incinerator would be?

Cllr Nigel Moor stated that this would be published when the facility was up and 
running which would be shortly.

Page 20



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 21 -

45. INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL 

Cllr Mark Hawthorne, Leader of the Council, left the Council Chamber for the 
consideration of this item.

The Chairman invited Richard Blamey, Chair of the Independent Remuneration 
Panel (IRP), to present the panel’s recommendations for the 2019-20 financial year.

Mr Blamey advised that the IRP was  independent of the Council and undertook a 
series of interviews with members each year. He explained that the IRP report had 
been presented to the Constitution Committee earlier in the year but it had not been 
brought forward to Council to allow the IRP to consider the outcome of the scrutiny 
review. The scrutiny chairs and vice-chairs would be interviewed during the Autumn 
to better understand how the new scrutiny arrangements were working and to 
consider whether any changes to special responsibility allowances were necessary.  
The panel had been concerned for some time that the Special Responsibility 
Allowance for the Leader of the Council was far too low in comparison with other 
county councils.  A recommendation was therefore made that it should be 
increased to £33,500.  

Members indicated support for the recommendations and thanked Mr Blamey and 
his fellow IRP members for the work they had undertaken.  They recognised that it 
was important to evaluate the role and not the person when assessing allowances. 
They noted that it was important that allowances were set at a level which did not 
discourage people from putting themselves forward.  It was evident that some 
people, who chose to become a councillor, were left significantly out of pocket.  A 
suggestion was made that the annual increase in allowances be linked directly to 
the pay award for staff to prevent the necessity for councillors to approve increases 
each year.

On being put to a recorded vote, it was 

RESOLVED 

a) To increase the Basic Allowance to £10,300, in line with the national staff 
pay award of 2%, for the 2019-20 financial year.

b) To increase the Special Responsibility Allowance for the Leader of the 
Council to £33,500.

c) To increase all other Special Responsibility Allowances in line with the 
national staff pay award of 2%.

Page 21



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 22 -

d) To note the revised Members’ Allowances Scheme for 2019-20 at Appendix 
B to the report.

The voting was as follows:

For (42) – Carole Allaway Martin, Phil Awford, Matt Babbage, Rob Bird, Richard 
Boyles, John Cordwell, Kevin Cromwell, Iain Dobie, Ben Evans, Bernard Fisher, 
Andrew Gravells, Kate Haigh, Terry Hale, Tim Harman, Colin Hay, Jeremy Hilton, 
Stephen Hirst, Andrew Miller, Patrick Molyneux, Graham Morgan, Dave Norman, 
Brian Oosthuysen, Shaun Parsons, Sajid Patel, Loraine Patrick, John Payne, Keith 
Rippington, Brian Robinson, Steve Robinson, Rachel Smith, Vernon Smith, Lynden 
Stowe, Klara Sudbury, Brian Tipper, Robert Vines, Eva Ward, Simon Wheeler, 
Kathy Williams, Lesley Williams, Suzanne Williams, Roger Wilson and Will 
Windsor-Clive

Against (2) – Cllrs Nigel Moore and Pam Tracey

Abstentions (5) – Cllrs Chris Coleman, Joe Harris, Paul Hodgkinson, Alan Preest 
and Ray Theodoulou

46. AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE 

In the absence of Cllr Nigel Robbins, Chair of the Audit and Governance 
Committee, Cllr Brian Oosthuysen, vice-chair of the committee, presented the 
annual report summarising activities of the committee.

In answer to a question relating to the Grant Thornton value-for-money report, Cllr 
Oosthuysen advised that it was not yet available although he understood that work 
was ongoing.

RESOLVED to note the report.

47. CABINET MEMBER DECISION STATEMENTS 

Consideration was given to the Cabinet Member Decision Statements for the period 
1 March to 31 May 2019.

Cllr Iain Dobie, the member for Leckhampton and Warden Hill, expressed concern 
regarding the decision of the Cabinet Member for Economy, Skills and Growth to 
delay a decision on the expansion of Warden Hill Primary School until March 2020.  

Page 22



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 23 -

He noted that the buildings at the school were in a desperately poor condition and 
he asked the Cabinet Member to visit the school with him.

Cllr Patrick Molyneux, Cabinet Member for Economy, Skills and Growth, regretted 
that it was necessary to delay the decision but the Council was governed by strict 
rules on how it spent money on repairs and refurbishment of schools.  He said that 
he would be prepared to visit the school with Cllr Dobie.

RESOLVED to note the report.

48. SCRUTINY 

Consideration was given to a report on the activities of the scrutiny committees 
since the Annual Meeting of the Council.

Cllr Shaun Parsons, Chair of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
stated that the first round of meetings under the new scrutiny structure had been 
held and the feedback from members was generally positive.  He noted that a 
number of scrutiny task groups were underway covering a range of areas including 
youth strategy, single-use plastics, public participation and taxi licensing.

He presented a recommendation from the meeting held on 12 June 2019 that there 
should be six ordinary meetings of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
each municipal year (in line with the other scrutiny committees).  He noted that this 
would be considered as part of the next agenda item (item 14) which related to 
changes to the Constitution.

RESOLVED to note the report.

49. CONSTITUTION COMMITTEE 

Cllr Mark Hawthorne, Chair of the Constitution Committee, presented the 
recommendations from the meeting held on 29 May 2019.  These related to the 
employee code of conduct, Monitoring Officer changes to the Constitution and a 
tidying up exercise to reflect the new scrutiny arrangements.

A member referred to the election of scrutiny chairs and content of the new National 
Scrutiny Guidance around their appointment by secret ballot. 

Cllr Hawthorne stated that the appointment of scrutiny chairs had been considered 
in some detail during the review and a position had been reached.

Page 23



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 24 -

Cllr Kate Haigh moved an amendment to the Constitution for six meetings of the 
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee to be held each year and removing 
references to a minimum of four ordinary meetings each year.  She noted that this 
would bring the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee in line with the 
meeting schedule for the other scrutiny committees.  She said that the committee 
fulfilled a critical role in helping to develop policies, considering cross-cutting issues 
and following the council taxpayers’ pound in Gloucestershire.  

The amendment was seconded by Cllr Joe Harris.

Cllr Hawthorne did not support the amendment as he felt that it was wrong to make 
changes to the Constitution without giving proper notice.  He said that one of the 
main findings of the scrutiny review was that the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee should not duplicate the activities of the other scrutiny committees.  It 
was expected that it would have less business and hold fewer meetings.  He 
believed that the matter should be referred back to the Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee.  

Cllr Shaun Parsons, Chair of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
advised that the Constitution stated that there should be a minimum of four 
meetings each year.  He believed that it is important that individual committees 
were empowered to look at issues themselves and there was not duplication.  He 
noted that the committee was in the process of developing a work plan and this 
would provide an opportunity to consider the number of meetings required.

Cllr Haigh advised that the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee had 
already held a discussion regarding this issue and made a recommendation that the 
number of ordinary meetings should be increased to six each year. She said that 
she could not see any reason why it needed to be referred back to the committee 
for discussion again.

A member stated that it was a simple change which had already been supported by 
the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

On being put to the vote, the amendment was lost.

RESOLVED

a) To ratify the changes to the Constitution made by the Monitoring Officer 
relating to the Employee Code of Conduct (please refer to Appendix 1 of the 
report).

Page 24



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 25 -

b) To ratify the changes to the Constitution made by the Monitoring Officer 
relating to Cabinet Member responsibilities and friendly amendments (please 
refer to Appendices 2 and 3 of the report).

c) To ratify the changes to the Constitution in respect of the scrutiny review 
(please refer to Appendix 4 of the report).

The meeting ended at 2.40pm

CHAIRMAN

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



CORPORATE PARENTING REPORT – 11 September 2019

In May this year, the Corporate Parenting Pledge was published and disseminated to 
all County Councillors for subscription and ongoing action. As part of The Pledge the 
Council committed to support Members in fulfilling their role by:

 Ensuring they are equipped with the knowledge and information about the 
corporate parenting work of the Council.

 Providing them with training opportunities to assist in the development of their 
role.

 Hosting events, facilitated by Ambassadors with care experience and the 
Children in Care Council (CiCC), to provide contextual information and share 
the work of the CiCC.

 Publishing a schedule of events concerning children in care and care leavers 
in order that Members can become involved and celebrate their 
achievements.

This briefing provides a summary of events which have taken place recently 
involving some County Councillors, and lists future events, some of which will target 
invitations to specific County Councillors and others which will be open to Full 
Council. It therefore prioritises the commitment made by the County to assist 
Members in the development of their role as Corporate Parents by publishing 
information accordingly.

Additional mechanisms will be established which will ensure all future events 
scheduled, which relate to children in care and care leavers, are published via 
Democratic Services in order that Members can plan attendance where possible and 
appropriate.

Recent Events Held:

15th May: Engagement event at Trevone House (attended by Cllr Boyles 
and Cllr Hilton and Ambassadors) 

17th July: Care Leaver’s Master Class - co-facilitated by Ambassadors 
(attended by representatives of The Corporate Parenting Group)

2nd August: Trevone House Provider Event (attended by Cllr Hilton) 

Upcoming events:

16th September: Scrutiny Youth Strategy Seminar for all Members on Scrutiny 
Panel

Page 27

Agenda Item 6



3rd October: Adverse Childhood Experiences ( ACES) ambassador 
awareness event. Councillors are welcome to attend if they 
would like to become ACES ambassadors. Please nominate via 
the link:  https://www.eventbrite.co.uk/e/aces-ambassador-
awareness-event-tickets-69887301801

23rd October: Full Council Session. Children in Care in Gloucestershire event 
facilitated by Ambassadors with care experience and supported 
by officers. Open to all County Councillors. Please notify 
janet.boyland@gloucestershire.gov.uk if you able to attend

W/C 28th October: Children in Care Council Meet Corporate Parenting Group (open 
to members of The Corporate Parenting Group). Date to be 
confirmed

W/C 28th October: National Care Leaver’s Week. Gloucestershire will be hosting 
celebration events for our care leavers, dates of which will be 
circulated via Democratic Services. These will be open to all 
County Councillors. The contact officer is 
mark.bone@gloucestershire.gov.uk

In addition to the above forthcoming events, regular Fostering Support Groups are
held across Gloucestershire in order that foster carers can attend local groups in
their area. These are detailed at Appendix 1 and are open to all County Councillors
who would like to find out more about the role of foster carers and their day-to-day
work with children in care in Gloucestershire. For any Members who wish to attend a 
local group within their constituency, or a listed specialist group, the contact officers
 who can provide further details are tammy.wheatley@gloucestershire.gov.uk or 
lisa.long@gloucestershire.gov.uk .

Ambassadors with Care Experience and Achievements of care leavers:

Finally, I’d like to convey my best wishes to Aiden and Callie who are off to university
this month. Aiden was successful in gaining a place at Manchester Metropolitan 
University to study Social Work and Callie is off to study Paramedic Science at The 
University of Worcester. Both Aiden and Callie were active members of the 
ambassador group and I’m sure everyone will join me in offering our congratulations
to their success in gaining university places, along with the other 5 care 
leaver’s who are off to university this year. The Participation Team welcomes three
new ambassador recruits, all of whom have care experience, who we hope you’ll
meet at the Full Council Children in Care session scheduled to take place on the 
23rd October.

Cllr Richard Boyles
Deputy Leader & Cabinet Member – Children’s Safeguarding & Early Years

Page 28

https://www.eventbrite.co.uk/e/aces-ambassador-awareness-event-tickets-69887301801
https://www.eventbrite.co.uk/e/aces-ambassador-awareness-event-tickets-69887301801
mailto:janet.boyland@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:mark.bone@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:tammy.wheatley@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:lisa.long@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Appendix 1

Foster Carer Support Groups

Area When
Cheltenham 2nd Tuesday of the month

10am – 12pm
Forest of Dean 
(daytime)

1st Tuesday of the month
10am – 12pm

Forest of Dean 
(evening)

1st Wed of the month
7.30pm – 9.30pm

Stonehouse, Stroud 
and Dursley

3rd Thurs of the month
10am – 12pm

Tewkesbury Last Monday of the month
7pm – 9pm

Newent Third Friday of the month
10am – 12pm

Gloucester (daytime) First Friday of the month – no meeting in August
10am – 12pm

Gloucester (evening) Monthly on Thursdays
7pm – 9pm

*NEW for 2019
Working carers’ 
support group
Barnwood, 
Gloucester

Saturday mornings; 10am – 12pm
Second Saturday of the month
2019: 12 Jan; 9 Feb; 9 March; 13 April; 11th May; 
15 June; 27 July; 14 Sept; 12 Oct; 16 Nov; 14 Dec

Specialist Support Groups

Subject and Area When
Parent and Child

Various venues

2nd Tuesday of the month
2019: 8th Jan, 12th Feb, 12th March, 2nd April, 
14th May, 11th June, 9th July
bi-monthly 
1pm - 2.30pm

Band 3 carers
Gloucester

2nd Tuesday of the month
10am to 12pm

IRIS
Gloucester

1st Weds of the month

Emergency Duty 
Team (EDT)
Gloucester

Bi-monthly on Fridays
2019/20: 17 May 2019; 12 July 2019; 13 Sept 
2019;8 Nov 2019; 17 January 2020; 13 March 

Page 29



2020
10am - 12.30pm

Male Carers
Gloucester

2019: 16 January, 27 February, 28 March, 17 
April, 23 May, 19 June, 18 July, 18 September, 
24 October, 27 November
7pm - 9.30pm

UASC Carers 2019: 30 April (9:30am – 12:30pm)
28 May (6:30pm – 9:30pm)
25 June (9:30am – 12:30pm)
30 July (6:30pm – 9:30pm)
27 August 
9:30am – 12:30pm

Friends and 
Family carers
Gloucester

2019: 25 Jan, 22 Feb, 22 March, 26 April, 24 
May, 28 June, 27 Sept, 25 Oct, 22 Nov
9.30 - 11.30am

Friends and 
Family carers
Cinderford

2019: 14 Jan, 11 Feb, 11 March, 15 April, 13 
May, 10 June, 16 July, 16 Sept, 14 Oct, 11 Nov
10am - 12pm

Friends and 
Family carers
Gloucester

2019: 8 Jan, 12 Feb, 12 March, 9 April, 14 May, 
11 June, 9 July, 10 Sept, 8 Oct, 12 Nov
9.30 - 11.30am 

Friends and 
Family carers
Cheltenham

2019: 14 Jan, 11 Feb, 11 March, 15 April, 13 
May, 10 June, 16 July, 16 Sept, 14 Oct, 11 Nov
9.30-11.30am

Page 30



Scrutiny and working group update

July-August 2019

1 Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny 
Committee

 Joint meeting with Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee on workforce challenges across the 
Integrated Care System.

 Call-in of Cabinet decision on future provision of 
Care Homes in Gloucestershire.

30 July 2019

13 August 2019

2 Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

 Update on 2gether Trust/Glos Care Services merger
 One Place – update on NHS Long Term Plan 

Engagement from Spring 2019
 Update on development of memorandum of 

understanding
 GCCG performance report
 Update on Radiology Service

 Joint meeting with Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee on workforce challenges across the 
Integrated Care System.

16 July 2019

30 July 2019

3 Children and Families Scrutiny Committee

 Safeguarding Children Annual Report 2018/19
 Safeguarding Children – Working Together 2018 new 

arrangements
 Children and Young People and the criminal Justice 

system

18 July 2019

4 Environment Scrutiny Committee

 Draft Climate Change Strategy
 Director’s Report, Communities and Infrastructure

17 July 2019

Page 31

Agenda Item 10

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=774&Year=0
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=774&Year=0
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=772&Year=0
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=670&Year=0
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=773&Year=0


5 Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee

 One Public Estate 31 July 2019

6 Economic Growth Joint Scrutiny

 Understanding the GFirst LEP
Local Industrial Strategy 4 September 2019

7 Police and Crime Panel

 Terms of reference 
 Police and Crime Commissioner – Annual Report 2018/19
 Police and Crime Plan – Revised Delivery Plans
 Police and Crime Plan Highlight Report
 Chief Executive Report

19 July 2019

8 Working groups

 Youth Strategy – seminar arranged for 16 September 2019.

 Single use plastics – first meeting 12 September 2019
 Taxi licensing – first meeting held on 5 September 2019.  

On the horizon:

Public participation – one page strategy sent to Corporate Scrutiny lead members for 
approval. 

Page 32

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=771&Year=0
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=731&Year=0
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=650&Year=0


Page 1 of 29 
 

Safety, Health & Environment 
Annual Report 

2018/19 
 

 
 
  

Page 33

Agenda Item 11



Page 2 of 29 
 

This page intentionally is blank 
  

Page 34



Page 3 of 29 
 

Safety, Health & Environment Annual Report 2018/19 
 
1. Introduction 

 
Gloucestershire County Council continues to take its health and safety 
responsibilities seriously. I am pleased that health and safety is now part of my 
Cabinet Portfolio. I have a background in health and safety, including over 30 years 
operational and support service in three fire and rescue services. Once again, I 
would like to thank colleagues on the Panel - fellow elected Members, Trade Union 
representatives and officers for their commitment. A particular thank you to the SHE 
team for their help and support. 
 
Cllr Dave Norman – Cabinet Member responsible for health and safety 
 
I took over responsibility for health and safety in 2016.  Since then I have seen good 
progress in managing risks and in embedding a health and safety culture into GCC. 
The SHE Panel plays an important role holding leaders to account and I thank them 
for carrying it out with care.  
 
Jane Burns, Director SHE Champion 
 
2. Executive Summary 
 
This year’s report rightly starts with an overview of safety aspects of the Shire Hall 
maintenance project and how a very low accident rate was achieved plus how, by 
design, a significant risk – work at height – has been mitigated. In contrast, after 
many years without HSE intervention several instances arose; these serve as a 
reminder of the need to have suitable and sufficient risk assessments in place and 
safe working practices adopted. Other safety performance is similar to previous 
years and, as an example, the bulk of school accidents are minor and not arising 
from higher risk curriculum activities such as science and D&T; evidence at audit 
confirms that good safety management is in place in these departments. 
 
3. Refurbishment of Shire Hall 

 
It is appropriate to open this review of 2018/19 safety 
activity by highlighting the extensive project to refurbish 
Shire Hall. Throughout the works AMPS has reviewed 
current practices and has made significant improvements 
around the building including access, egress, and escape 
routes for the entire building. The introduction of two new 
fire evacuation lifts has improved our ability to either 
evacuate horizontally or vertically in blocks 5 and 6. Where 
we can we have fitted rotating windows to help reduce 
working at height and the ability to keep windows clean 
creating a better working environment.  
 
One specific example of risk mitigation by design that merits 
attention here is the design of the roof area. Measures such 
as designated walkways, edge protection and protected 

Page 35



Page 4 of 29 
 

ladders have been installed  with the consequence that traditional risk controls such 
as use of harnesses (‘fall arrest’ systems) are no longer required when undertaking 
routine tasks on the roof.  
 
4. HSE Intervention 

 
Our paragraph on HSE intervention has been brought to the front of this report as, 
after years of no activity, there have been three investigations by the HSE in 
2018/19: 

 the first was the consequence of a school Site Manager 
falling from a ladder. Investigations showed that a risk 
assessment was in place, the Site Manager had attended 
training (and refresher training) on the use of access 
equipment and that a regime of ladder inspection was in 
use. SHE investigated the circumstances but the root 
cause could not be ascertained with certainty; the HSE’s 
investigation also stated that it “is difficult to determine the 
exact cause of the accident”. The school ceased use of ladders and now uses 
a contractor for work at height; 

 the second instance concerned a musculoskeletal disorder developing in an 
habitual user of a laptop; this has been summarised in paragraph 9 below; 

 the third concerned the aftermath of asbestos removal in the attic space of a 
primary school. It was possible that some fibres might still have been present 
but the attic was not sealed and members of staff occasionally accessed the 
area to store archives. The HSE required immediate sealing of the space; 
further remedial action was completed in August 2019. 

 
In addition, the second round of reviews of the management of asbestos in schools 
(the Asbestos Management Assurance Process (AMAP) initiated by the Education & 
Skills Funding Agency) concluded in spring 2019. Property Services led the 
response for maintained schools using the portal provided. The HSE has made visits 
to a selection of schools nationwide (maintained, academy, independent etc) 
including within Gloucestershire; we are still awaiting the outcome of the visits. 
 
These interventions are a strong reminder that the need to have risk assessments 
and safe working practices in place is not optional. One initiative arising from these 
interventions is that free workshops are being run for LA schools to ensure they have 
suitable and sufficient risk assessments in place. 
 
Quite separately from GCC workplace activities, the outcome of the prosecution of 
Bridgend County Borough Council was examined. A pupil died after being struck by 
a minibus and it was held that the LA had not managed the change in on-site 
transport risks as more vehicles used an increasingly congested set-down/pick-up 
area. GCC already publishes SHE/G047 Managing Vehicle Traffic on Site to enable 
premises managers to manage workplace risks associated with vehicular traffic and 
the interface with pedestrian routes. In 2019/20 the status of on-site transport on LA 
school sites will be evaluated to establish any high risk locations and to inform 
solutions. 
 
 

Page 36



Page 5 of 29 
 

5. Safety Management in GCC 

 
The Safety, Health & Environment (SHE) Annual Report 2018/19 summarises the 
Council’s management of the health and safety of its employees (and others affected 
by its activities). 
 
As a precursor to details of our safety performance in the past year, attention is 
drawn to our safety management arrangements which include proactive or 
preventative measures such as: 
 

 maintaining a corporate risk register which includes a high level h&s entry; 

 taking a risk based approach – using risk assessment with controls applied in 
a proportionate manner; 

 working with Commissioning leads to ensure appropriate h&s consideration in 
the commissioning cycle; 

 promoting ownership by line managers; 

 giving access to a wide range of practical advice and guidance including 
template risk assessments based on legislation, industry/ sector standards 
and good practice; 

 arrangements to manage risks such as asbestos and water hygiene and other 
property related risks; 

 coaching to support ownership and delivery; 

 having a SHE Member Champion (Cllr Ray Theodoulou) and Director SHE 
Champion (Jane Burns, Director: Strategy & Challenge). Cllr Dave Norman 
has now taken on the role of Member Champion; 

 monitoring safety performance including in schools where GCC is the 
employer, at waste sites operated by contractors on behalf of GCC; 

 continuing to provide a service centred upon the provision of competent 
advice for any school buying traded services such as SHE, Occupational 
Health and Property Services; 

 training in GF&RS to compensate for gaining experience tackling fewer real 
incidents; and 

 auditing health and safety management systems at local and operational 
levels to help maintain standards or drive continuous improvement. 

 
In our SHE Annual Report 2017/18 reference was made to the highly topical 
aftermath of the Grenfell Tower fire in London on 14th June 2017. Although GCC 
does not have responsibility for high-rise public housing blocks, the Inquiry will make 
recommendations affecting many aspects of fire safety. We await the output of this 
Inquiry and GCC will examine the consequential implications for our arrangements. 
 
6. Trades Union Involvement 

 
Our SHE Panel is the main consultation body for employee health and safety. The 
Panel comprises: 

 TU Safety Representatives; 

 Elected Members; and 

 Directors/ officers. 
 

Page 37



Page 6 of 29 
 

The Panel meets three times per annum with the chair passing annually between a 
Member and TU Safety Representative (GMB, Unite, UNISON and ATL) though the 
teachers’ unions have been unable to provide representation for several years since 
the retirement of their previous representative. This year’s meetings were chaired 
initially by Peter Clark, a UNISON Safety Representative and latterly by Cllr Dave 
Norman. 
 
Specific areas of risk contribute to the meetings; these are: 
 

 SHE (for corporate h&s)  Property Services 

 Gloucestershire Fire & Rescue Service  Waste 

 Highways  Human Resources 
 
Agendas consist of core items such as safety performance and current subjects of 
importance such as Health & Safety Executive research papers or matters of specific 
local relevance, some of which are referenced elsewhere in this report. Contributions 
by ‘risk areas’ and ownership if their part of the agenda has progressed well this year 
but the dwindling participation by Trades Unions in local authority consultation 
generally has prompted a wholesale review to be commenced in 2019/20 to find 
better ways of achieving consultation with employees on health and safety. 
 
7. Safety Management - Proactive Approach 

 
7.1 Information for Managers/ Employees 
 
Information for managers/ employees continues to be published on Staffnet 
encompassing a wide range of guidance – now amounting to 80+ SHE subjects 
(including aspects of risk assessment) plus recently refreshed Property Services 
material. This guidance selectively is replicated on Schoolsnet to enable easy 
access to relevant and reliable sources. Property Services and Occupational Health 
similarly provide material to enable risks to be managed. 
 
7.2 Compliance 
 
A programme of audits operates annually. These audits critically examine a 
location’s safety management system to highlight deficiencies and recognise good 
practice but, essentially, seek to support line managers and assist their management 
of risks and drive continuous improvement. Property Services also monitor buildings 
related risks and manage servicing and maintenance in corporate buildings. 
 
Similarly, fire risk assessments explore premises’ fire risks and the active and 
passive means of preventing fires or limiting the impact. Evacuation plans and 
routine testing/ servicing of alarms, emergency lights and fire fighting equipment are 
checked and any actions to rectify non-compliances are recorded. As with audits, 
local managers/ Governing Bodies are expected to address any items raised. There 
is close liaison between SHE/Property Services so that remedial work can be 
planned; the property database TechForge is used as the depository for reports and 
records. 
 

Page 38



Page 7 of 29 
 

Key findings at audit and during fire risk assessments are noted in paragraphs 11 
and 12 below. 
 
8.  Reactive Monitoring 

 
Despite having measures in place, accidents still will occur and this data can be 
used to determine priorities for intervention. The reporting portal on our accident 
reporting database – SHE Assure – enables any employee to report an accident. 
This change continues to result in more events being notified and availability of a 
much better standard of data. 
 
8.1 Safety Performance 
 
This report contains the headlines relating to safety performance. Trends and 
detailed comparisons with previous years have little validity in many groups (e.g. 
schools) as not all locations report accidents on the SHE Assure database and, of 
course, academies have no duty to report to GCC. The key point is that schools 
locally do record their accidents and investigations and this is checked when h&s 
audits take place. Again this year, the bulk of reports comprises low risk mishaps 
that would be expected – playground falls, collisions etc with little or no 
consequence. The data that we do have to hand is sufficient to indicate the main 
causes, and what impacts upon workplace safety, and these do not vary year by 
year. The main variation will be specific accidents where an unsafe act or condition 
has contributed to a serious injury but these seldom occur. 
 
8.2 Support Services/ Core Cluster 
 
Workplace risks are generally low within the core cluster functions and so the 
accidents reported are few. This year 21 employee accidents were reported, a rise of 
9 from the previous year. The main causes for employee events were 4 
slips/trips/fall, 3 involving some form of abuse from SU and 2 scalds. At the time of 
compiling this annual report, work is underway to address anti-social behaviour 
experienced by reception staff in the Shire Hall main reception and the Barbican 
reception. Measures have also been taken to mitigate the risk of protestors entering 
Shire Hall. 
 
8.3 Adults 
 
Reporting within Adults continues to be 
diligent no doubt as a reflection of the 
vulnerable service users (e.g. frailty) and 
greater risk profile (e.g. moving and handling 
people; workplace violence); as reporting to 
CQC takes place, this also influences 
attention to detail. 
 
A total of 240 reports were recorded this year, 
25 for employees and 215 for service users 
(27 and 242 respectively in 2017/18). Most 
commonly recorded causes for employees were abuse/anti-social behaviour (usually 

Page 39



Page 8 of 29 
 

by SU with behavioural difficulties) (6), slips/trips/falls (including in SU’s homes) (5) 
and sharps (3). Last year we reported that annual mandatory moving and handling 
training continues to be provided and this appears to be effective as just one ‘moving 
and handling’ injury was recorded. 
 
For service users, 105 falls were listed (140 last year) but most of these were 
classed as ‘minor’; typically, they involve slipping off a chair or bed. Data also 
revealed 41 medication errors (22 in 2017/18 and 29 in 2016/17); these reports 
invariably refer to self-medication errors by service users (SU) but include staff 
administering incorrect doses/ medicines, incorrect entries in records and SU 
spilling/dropping medication. Any medication errors by staff are followed up with a 
written report and reflective account by the member of staff which demonstrates that 
they are taken seriously and reviewed. 
 
8.4 Children & Families 
 
During 2018/19 the SHE team has been working on renewed engagement with 
Children & Families to ensure good employee/ workplace safety practices were in 
place such as managing lone working and workplace abuse/ violence; progress is 
being made in particular with improving risk assessments but it is acknowledged that 

this work is set against the magnitude of the post-
Ofsted inspection response. In the course of the year 
25 employee accidents/ near misses were reported (37 
in 2015/16 and 16 in both 2016/17 and 2017/18). 4 SU 
accidents were recorded (1 in 2015/16 and none in 
2016/17). Causes were 17 involving anti-social 
behaviour of which 8 arose from physical assault; the 
only other recurring cause was two road traffic incidents 
which highlight the need for checking driver documents 
and lone working systems. 
 

8.5 Local Authority Schools 
 
Primary Schools 
 
Schools (as with any workplace) have a statutory duty to report accidents; use of a 
database (SHE Assure) is offered through an annual Service Level Agreement; it is 
expected that minor mishaps will be recorded locally (and checked at audit) and the 
database used for those of a more serious nature or those requiring more-than-basic 
first aid or hospital treatment. 86 LA primary schools choose to use the database or 
had accidents that merited recording on it. 
 
266 entries were made (327 last year), 68 to employees (66 in 17/18) and 198 to 
pupils (261 last year); conversion to academy status reduces the number of schools 
in this category. As indicated in the introduction to this report, a direct comparison 
with previous years is not an accurate indictor as schools’ use of the database varies 
year by year. At audit, a check is made that they have adequate local accident 
reporting arrangements in place accompanied by monitoring of trends etc by their 
Governing Body. With upgrades to the database it is no longer possible not to record 

Page 40



Page 9 of 29 
 

a cause and this contributed to better data standards again this year. The main 
causes were: 
 

 Employees 
o 1 involved the case of a Site Manager falling from a ladder; this has 

been commented upon in the HSE intervention paragraph above; 
o 12 involved some form of violence such as biting or being hit by an 

object; 
o 20 were the result of a slip, trip or fall and included 9 where employees 

slipped on wet floors or on spilt food at lunchtime – these were all 
preventable and extensive SHE guidance is available on this subject. 

 

 Pupils 
o 65 involved slips, trips or falls but recording of causes often might be 

re-categorised; for example, there were also 30 falls from play 
equipment; 

o 19 occurred during PE/sport; 
o 12 were the consequence of being ’hit by objects’ invariably in the 

playground. This risk generally is reduced in schools by separating 
infants/ juniors and restricting balls to a designated part of the 
playground; 

o 10 were instances of pupils running/walking into objects such as walls; 
o cryptic accidents amounted to just one (swallowed bead) this year. 

 
Secondary Schools 
 
17 events (1 ‘employee’, and 16 ‘pupil’) were recorded by the one LA secondary 
school. 
 
The main causes were: 
 

 Employees 
o 1 slip which occurred after: ‘a student kicked over a `warning wet floor` 

sign. The injured person picked it up and slipped on water it was 
warning against’. 

 

 Pupils 
o 6 during PE/sport; 
o 2 slips, trips, falls; 
o 1 case of ‘violence’ by pupils against another pupil. 

 
It is noteworthy that again there is an absence of 
accidents in higher risk curriculum areas such as 
science and D&T and this is attributed to the 
adequacy of risk assessment and 
implementation of effective teaching, supervision 
and other risk controls. A wider pool of data is 
available for academy schools to substantiate 
this perception; this year there were 47 reports 
of accidents (from 23 schools) in these 

Page 41



Page 10 of 29 
 

curriculum areas mainly minor burns in cooking lessons. 
 

Special Schools 
 
In previous SHE Annual Reports the extent of events bracketed as ‘accidents’ in 
Special Schools has been commented upon and, in particular, work was undertaken 
in 2015/16 to establish a protocol with Special Schools so that incidents involving 
pupil behaviour (a key workplace risk in these locations) were solely recorded locally 
(on databases such as SLEUTH) whereas those where an injury is incurred requiring 
first aid etc should still be recorded on the SHE Assure database. During this work it 
was quite clear that robust arrangements were in place to use this information to 
develop pupil behaviour plans and so duplication on SHE Assure was accepted by 
the SHE Panel as being unnecessary.  
 
Residual reports (34 entries this year) still being entered on SHE Assure show 8 
employees suffered some form of violence/abuse; there was one slip/trip/fall and a 
serious near miss when ‘the wrong chemicals were delivered and used in the pool’. 
14 pupil events included 3 falls from play equipment, 1 in PE/sport and, significantly, 
1 where a seat was not properly secured in a minibus – schools have rigorous 
arrangements for use of minibuses including when transporting wheelchairs and on 
this occasion a defective component was established as being the root cause. 
 
8.6 Libraries 
 
Accidents in libraries again have been summarised separately as, in recent years, 
the Libraries and Information team continues to oversee risks well. 45 events were 
recorded in 2018/19 down from 70 the previous year, 33 to ‘employees/volunteers’; 
12 to members of the public and one near miss where a vehicle was parked against 
a fire exit door. 
 
Causes included: 

 Employees 
o 28 instances of verbal abuse or other forms of undesirable behaviour 

by SU; 
o 1 scald; 
o 1 fall on stairs. 

 

 Public 
o 4 where existing ill health conditions required attention; 
o 3 SU falling off chairs; 
o 2 involving abuse/anti-social behaviour though a proportion of those 

recorded as ‘employee’ events also involved SU either as perpetrators 
or targets of the abuse. 

 
8.7 Academy Schools 
 
Non Local Authority Primary Schools 
 
Through the SHE Traded Service, academy schools are able to use SHE Assure but 
year by year use varies making meaningful comparisons unrealistic. 2018/19 data 

Page 42



Page 11 of 29 
 

shows that 52 primary academies (53 in 2017/18) reported a total of 189 incidents 
(172 last year) – 14 to employees and 148 to pupils. We are aware of an accident 
when a branch fell from a tree onto a visiting child despite the school having a 
regime of annual inspections and completion of any remedial work identified. 
 
The most frequently recorded causes were: 
 

 Employees 
o 3 involving disputes or aggressive behaviour; 
o 2 slips including 1 on food at lunchtime. 
 

 Pupils 
o 18 where a pupil walked or ran into objects; 
o 18 falls from play equipment; 
o 16 in PE/sport; 
o 49 slips/trips/falls the majority of which were whilst playing or moving 

around the school; several were attributable to poor housekeeping but 
most had no obvious means of prevention. 

 
Non Local Authority Secondary Schools 

 
23 (24 in 2017/18) chose to use SHE Assure and they reported a total of 772 
incidents an increase of 9 this year. 58 were to employees, 699 to pupils and 1 
visitor who had the misfortune to be hit by a light fitting falling from a ceiling. 
 
The main causes were: 

 Employees 
o 2 injuries using gym equipment and 2 in D&T; 
o 5 while teaching PE/sports; 
o 6 ‘sharps’ injuries, 3 in D&T and 3 in catering activities; 
o 13 slips/trips/falls 3 of which were wet hazards on floor, 1 on an icy 

path, 2 on steps where no defect was present and 1 “fitting a projector - 
slipped when stepping onto a table from another table”. 

 

 Pupils: 
o 26 involved some form of anti-social/aggressive behaviour; 
o 5 cuts while using tools in D&T or food preparation; 
o 9 involving splashes etc from hazardous substances in science 

lessons/D&T; 
o 33 burns mainly picking up hot equipment in food preparation or in 

science lessons. 
 

Non Local Authority Special Schools 
 
None of these schools buy the SHE service and so no data is available. 
 
8.8 Near misses 
 
18 near misses were reported. Typical cases concerned pupils attempting to 
abscond. There were two high potential events, firstly, a bough falling from a tree just 

Page 43



Page 12 of 29 
 

after the end of the lunchtime break in a school and, secondly, a rugby post crossbar 
fell just missing a pupil. One social worker reported exposed asbestos bearing 
material in a service user’s home; the SU was rehoused soon after. 
 
9. RIDDOR (HSE reportable events) 

 
RIDDOR reports, where GCC was the employer, amounted to 4 events either as a 
consequence of the severity of the injury or due to the number of working days lost. 
 
One specific case merits attention here. A RIDDOR report was submitted when an 
employee developed a musclosketal disorder (MSD) as a consequence of prolonged 
use of a laptop in grossly unsatisfactory situations. The HSE investigated and 
remedial action was taken. This was a prime example of how risk assessment could 
have prevented harm being caused; it also demonstrates people’s remarkable 
tolerance of discomfort. 
 
The causes were: 

 the Site Manager falling from a ladder (summarised in paragraph 2 
above); 

 a fall resulting in a broken collar bone; 

 an employee falling as she climbed over a wall taking a short cut to 
Quayside car park and falling; 

 an assault by a pupil on a teacher in a special school. 
 
10. Radiation Protection Officer (RPO) role 

 
Following reorganisation in Education the SHE team has now taken on the RPO role. 
The hierarchy comprises: 

 Radiation Protection Adviser – a services offered by the school science 
service (CLEAPSS); 

 Radiation Protection Officer – SHE team; and 

 Radiation Protect Supervisor – usually the Head of Science or a competent 
technician in secondary schools. 

 
Radiation sources comprise sealed sources which enable an appreciation of alpha, 
beta and gamma radiation and how they can be shielded plus understanding of their 
properties such as their half-life. This is part of the curriculum hence the need to hold 
these sources; schools have secure storage and retain sources within the permitted 
limits. 
 
11. Findings at Audit 

 
School audits 
 
Broadly, schools’ compliance has improved greatly in the last decade and this is 
attributed to better informed h&s leads in schools, the provision of easy-to-use tools 
for those leading h&s in schools/ teams, training run by SHE and Property Services, 
one-to-one coaching for school administrators/ business managers, courses run by 
Property Services plus the ease of obtaining advice. 

Page 44



Page 13 of 29 
 

 
Recurring areas for strengthening that were noted last year remain prevalent: 

 transfer of responsibilities when a key member of staff leaves especially 
headteachers where usually no handover occurs with the result that elements 
of safety management lapse e.g. review of risk assessments, testing alarms; 

 occasional shortcomings in risk assessment such as no review when material 
changes occur; 

 shortcomings in risk assessments especially where templates are not 
judiciously edited to reflect specific risks/control measures in use in that 
particular location. 

 
Strengths noted include: 

 practical and realistic risk assessments; 

 active and value-adding engagement by Governors; 

 strong communication of safety material/ messages; 

 maintenance and servicing arrangements; 

 accident reporting and use of safety intelligence. 
 
Other h&s audits showed that much good practice continues to be identified but 
attention to risk assessments and DSE self-assessments sometimes is lacking. An 
audit of Asset Management & Property Services noted some actions: 
 

 AMPS to consider developing a ‘roles and responsibilities’ briefing note for 
premises leads e.g. to support those new in role and handover process. 

 SHE and AMPS to maintain a joint list of ‘sites of concern’ where compliance 
is unsatisfactory to present to Education 

 SHE and AMPS et al to develop a Safety Management Group to cover areas 
of mutual interest and enhance influence where there are concerns.  

 locate and review/ update as necessary the AMPS generic risk assessment(s) 
for field working/ site visits. 

 
12. Findings in Fire Risk Assessments 

 
2018/19 again saw a large volume of corporate sites’ fire risk assessments renewed 
plus others undertaken for non-LA schools. Generally, compliance with fire safety 
standards is satisfactory with many examples of exemplary practice though the 
following key points were recorded: 

 cessation of activity such as testing alarms and other mandatory functions 
when a key member of staff leaves; these duties must be disaggregated to 
other employees until the post is filled; 

 accurate and timely record keeping is not always in place; 

 excessive displays of art work that would facilitate the spread of flame; 

 occasional examples of poor housekeeping. 
 
Last year we reported on findings at traveller sites; significant amount of work has 
been done to arrange new condition surveys, ensure that hazards such as 
installation of wood-burning stoves is checked by competent persons, clearing plots 
to maintain gaps between dwellings and installation of fire blankets and 
extinguishers in amenity blocks. 

Page 45



Page 14 of 29 
 

 
13. Sickness Absence 

 
The statistics for 2018/19 are configured into the ‘clusters’ within the Council’s 
organisation. The totals for ‘absence reasons’ for the previous three years are shown 
as a comparison. The table below shows the total number of staff sickness absence 
periods by ‘reason’ and by service area: 
 

 Previous years 2018/19 

Absence Reason 
Total  
15/16 

Total 
16/17 

Total 
17/18 

Adults Children’s Communities Core Total 18/19 
Variance 

17/18 – 18/19 

Back and neck 
Problems 

262 223 212 92 26 26 23 167 

Burns poisoning 5 4 6 2 1 0 0 3 

Chest and respiratory 188 151 135 49 40 19 16 124 

Dental and oral 76 56 44 39 18 12 13 82 

Endocrine glandular 21 31 21 13 14 3 5 35 

Eye, ear, nose or 
throat 

234 229 224 72 53 25 42 192 

Genito-urinary 103 92 83 39 24 6 11 80 

Headache and 
migraine 

462 424 416 157 149 61 88 455 

Heart blood 
circulation 

74 101 71 30 19 11 9 69 

Infections cold ‘flu 1474 1568 1472 598 325 171 228 1322 

Infectious diseases 79 88 89 16 28 9 12 65 

Musclosketal 310 244 223 142 41 20 50 253 

Nervous system 
disorder 

56 95 60 11 15 3 1 30 

Operations 233 198 201 75 52 23 13 163 

Pregnancy related 55 51 63 31 11 5 4 51 

Skin disorders 52 43 39 15 9 1 8 33 

Stomach, liver kidney 768 835 779 366 254 82 132 834 

Stress, depression 427 459 465 143 168 31 40 382 

Substance abuse 7 10 16 2 3 0 1 6 

Swine ‘flu 3 3 2 0 1 0 0 1 

Tumours and cancers 40 52 51 46 8 4 12 70 

Unknown 3 4 2 0 1 0 0 1 

Total  4932 4961 4674 1938 1260 512 708 4418 

Avg. No.  of 
absences per 
employee 2018/19 – 
variance compared 
to 2017/18 

1.58 1.58 1.48 1.73 1.20 1.07 1.2 1.36 

Avg. No.  of 
absences per 
employee 2017/18 

   1.84 1.18 1.42 1.4 1.48 

 

NB – The average number of absences per employee figures are based on the standard 
headcount report for 1st April 2019 (headcount of 3,239). In line with standard reporting, 

Page 46



Page 15 of 29 
 

these figures (and the sickness absence figures) exclude all staff on zero hour, casual, 
temporary, non-standard or off-scale contracts, as well as all Elected Members and 
Temporary Staff Register staff. This enables consistency to be achieved with all previous 
reports. The figure for the Communities Cluster does not include Gloucestershire Fire & 
Rescue Service, again to ensure consistency. 

 
The four year position is: 

 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 

Days lost to long term 
absence per FTE 

3.9 4.01 4.85 4.27 

Days lost to sickness per FTE 7.8 7.85 9.19 7.89 

Days lost to stress per FTE 2.03 2.11 2.63 2.41 

 

The nineteenth annual CIPD survey (published April 2019) explores issues in health, 
well-being and absence in UK workplaces. In 2018 the survey was rebranded from 
the Absence Management survey to the Health and Well-being at Work survey to 
reflect an increased focus on health and well-being policies and practices, although, 
as in previous years, it continues to monitor absence management trends, policy and 
practice.  The survey was completed by 1,078 respondents in November 2018 (26% 
of which were from the public sector; 6% local government). The headlines in 
relation to Public Sector absence levels, is that on average, public sector employees 
had 8.4 days of absence over the last year.  There has been little change in public 
sector absence over the last few years, although it is lower than at the beginning of 
the decade (2010: 9.3 days). The recently published report contains national 
benchmarking figures, including the national absence figure for local government as 
an average of 9.6 days per FTE. 
 
The Local Government Association Workforce Survey publishes Absence 
Management figures annually. The latest available is from 2016/17 (published June 
2018) which states 8.7 days as the average working days lost per FTE in England’s 
Local Authorities (and 4.8 days per FTE for long term sickness absence). 
 
GCC’s overall sickness absence level for the 2018/19 year decreased from 9.19 
days per FTE in 2017/18, to 7.89 days per FTE in 2018/19. HR’s observations are 
that: 

 sickness absence levels remain above the GCC target level, however overall 
GCC sickness absence, long term sickness absence and stress related 
sickness absence have been lower in 2018/19 when compared to the 
previous year 2017/18:  

o the overall sickness absence level of 7.89 days per FTE is 8% above 
the GCC target (7.3).  However, compared to 2017/18, overall absence 
levels were lower in 2018/19 by 1.3 days per FTE; 

o the number of individual periods of absence has decreased between 
2017/18 and 2018/19; 

o long term sickness absence levels of 4.27 days per FTE for 2018/19 
remains above target (3.00 days per FTE), but slightly lower than the 
previous year at just over half a day per FTE (4.85 days per FTE); 

o long term absence has been lower in every quarter during 2018/19 
compared to 2017/18; 

Page 47



Page 16 of 29 
 

o short term sickness absence levels of 3.63 days per FTE for 2018/19 
remains above target (3.33 days per FTE), but lower than the previous 
year 2017/18 of 4.34 days per FTE; 

o stress related sickness absence levels of 2.41 days per FTE for 
2018/19 remains above target of 1.5 days per FTE, but decreased from 
previous year 2017/18 of 2.63 days per FTE; and   

o the top five highest reasons for sickness absence during 2018/19 were 
stress and depression; musculoskeletal; infections cold flu; operations; 
and tumours and cancer.  

 stress related sickness absence levels remains above target.  HR and 
Occupational Health continue to work with teams with high levels of stress 
related absence, to support targeted interventions to reduce stress related 
sickness levels; 

 HR has continued to work with managers to ensure the accuracy of recording 
absences within SAP; and  

 sickness absence ‘hot spots’ continue to predominantly be in front line 
services within the Adults and Children’s clusters. 

 
One means of support relevant to sickness absence is the process contained in 
SHE/GN/44 Stress Risk Assessment Toolkit. A good number of coaching sessions 
(including 1:1 stress management cases) have been provided for line managers 
seeking to apply this technique and assist employees to return to work. 
 
14. Display Screen Equipment (DSE) 

 
During the year there has been a steady stream of requests to advise teams on 
aspects of the use of display screen equipment (PCs). This is a low risk activity but 
as there are so many habitual users in GCC (plus extensive use out of work) it is 
inevitable that various musculoskeletal disorders occur, some of which result in 
referrals to Occupational Health. 
 
The comprehensive range of informative advice available on the SHE webpages 
provides the means for employees to address most situations with supplementary 
advice and referrals (e.g. to Occupational Health) being readily available. Often the 
solution is nothing more than a better adjusted chair and work area but too many 
dilapidated chairs have been identified. These items are ‘work equipment’ and 
should be fit for purpose. The first stop for users with problems must be the guidance 
on the SHE webpages as this will enable many problems to be alleviated without 
further assistance. A new PowerPoint based learning package has been provided 
that encompasses standard PC workstations, hot desking and technology such as 
tablets. 
 
15. Off-site Visits 

 
The volume of educational/ off-site visits remains buoyant; in 2018/19 791 
notifications for review were made to the SHE team, an increase of five on the 
previous year. Around 40% are to venues operated by activity providers (such as 
PGL and JCA) who hold a licence issued by the Adventurous Activities Licensing 
Scheme which was created after the Lyme Bay canoeing tragedy in 1993. HM 
Government’s deliberations on whether to retain the AALA regime have now reached 

Page 48



Page 17 of 29 
 

conclusion. The HSE website advises that in September 2018 the HSE Board 
agreed the: “Removal of the AALR regulations and [to] move to an industry-led; non-
statutory; not-for-profit scheme underpinned by the Health and Safety at work etc. 
Act 1974, to provide assurance to users of outdoor activities”. 
 

Duke of Edinburgh Award expeditions are 
plentiful though a trend noted last year 
towards using firms specialising in this area 
rather than school-led expeditions has 
continued, in part due to the greater numbers 
of students participating. The standard of risk 
management demonstrated in notifications 
generally is good with occasional indications 
that it is treated as an administrative task 
rather than having a sound purpose; delivery 
of trips by schools continues to be successful 

with risk-related incidents seldom coming to attention. Schools value the review of 
notification of residential/adventurous trips. 
 
16. Training 

 
A fresh impetus is underway to restore the suite of corporate h&s training courses. 
Specifications have been updated and HR is making arrangements to re-establish 
courses on their training platform. First aid certificates are now renewed using two 
fully populated courses per annum rather than spreading delegates thinly across 
several courses. 
 
The SHE team ran a well-attended (20) course for Off-site Visits Co-ordinators in the 
spring and a Managing Health and Safety in Schools course attended by 30 
headteachers, business managers and site managers. Feedback remains very 
positive; a separate workshop was also run to coach schools on preparing robust 
risk assessments and 14 attended. Property Services have run courses for those 
with responsibilities for asbestos and water hygiene in premises. 
 
Other opportunities are taken to promote training as part of a wider safety message; 
new headteachers’ induction and local school clusters plus a few Shire Hall team 
meetings being recent examples. 
 
Directors'/senior managers’ update 
 
In the spring we ran a refresher for directors and senior managers on corporate 
responsibility for managing health and safety facilitated by a legal adviser that GCC 
would call upon in the event of a major incident. This event was well attended and 
considered: 

 an update on corporate manslaughter/ sentencing guidelines; 

 a focus on some Local Authority cases; 

 guidelines on responsibilities (IOSH material); 

 monitoring and review arrangements in GCC; and 

 the GCC Major Incident Protocol. 
 

Page 49



Page 18 of 29 
 

Various attendees then cascaded key messages to their own teams which resulted 
in certain arrangements being updated. Overall it proved to be a worthwhile course 
and the intention is to repeat in biennially. 
 
17. Property 

 
The principal activity for Property Services in 
2018/19 clearly has been the extensive work 
undertaken on Shire hall; this has been 
summarised in the opening paragraphs of this 
report. 
 
In addition, a considerable amount of work has 
been done by the team to ensure compliance by 
property leads in corporate premises and in 
schools buying the service. Training has been 
provided to enable those with specific 
responsibilities for managing risks associated 
with asbestos and water hygiene to discharge 
those duties. 
 
A major review of policies on how GCC 
manages asbestos, water hygiene and lathe and 
plaster ceilings has been completed and the 
documents republished. Many fire risk 
assessments and security reviews for premises have been completed and 
collaboration with the SHE team has been strengthened in the last year. 
 
As part of the extensive work on Shire Hall, Kier produced a report on its safety 
performance; this included external visits from HSE and its own internal SHE 
Advisers. Throughout the works only 4 minor accidents were recorded and there 
were no RIDDOR reports required. To put this in to context, this is over a period of 
200,000 worked hours. 
 
18. Waste 

 
Waste activities covered by the SHE Panel’s review of safety practice and 
performance include monitoring contractors’ (Ubico) performance at Household 
Recycling Centres (HRC) at Fosse Cross, Hempsted, Oak Quarry, Pyke Quarry and 
Wingmoor Farm; landfilling, composting and waste transfer operations (Enovert 
South Ltd); anaerobic digestion of food waste (Andigestion Ltd) and in-vessel 
composting of food and garden waste (M.F. Bennion). 
 
Through 2018/19 the safety focus remained the Household Recycling Centre 
service.  There is significant interaction with the public accessing and using these 
facilities.  Ubico has continued with its integration of support services for all of its 
waste contracts within the county, including safety.   
 
On site, good progress has been made on: 

Page 50



Page 19 of 29 
 

 the roll out of the mobile waste compaction programme and the move from 
static waste compaction to using mobile plant.  This has involved improving 
site signage and some changes to traffic management on sites.  Pyke Quarry 
HRC and Hempsted HRC were completed this year, with two more being 
completed in 2019/20;  

 there was specific attention to the height of the revised tipping face walls in 
line with industry guidance / good practice and the operation of the mobile 
plant (material handling equipment) near to the public; 

 Ubico has reviewed and added to its list of Safe Systems of Work for the HRC 
operation.  GCC contributed to the review of these processes; 

 there has been good progress made by Ubico in reducing the number of 
overweight vehicles they use to haul HRC wastes to delivery points.  The use 
of the materials handling equipment has enabled some waste skips to have 
their loads reduced as required before being removed from site; 

 Ubico as an organisation have made efforts to retrain and encourage its staff 
to actively report incident near misses (now referred to as ‘safety concerns’). 

 

HRC Contract Reporting Headlines 

 2018/19 2017/18 

RIDDOR 0 0 

Accidents/ incidents 26 15 

Safety concerns 391 182 

 
The rise in reporting numbers was more a reflection of the proactive approach of 
Ubico staff and management as opposed to more incidents actually occurring. 
 
The other Waste Management Contracts comprising of Enovert’s landfill, bulking and 
haulage, Andigestion Ltd’s food waste processing and M.F. Bennion Ltd’s food and 
garden waste processing have shown little change in incidents and near misses 
reported. There have been no RIDDOR incidents reported during 2018/19 on the 
Waste Contracts. 
 
GCC continued its 
participation in the 
Gloucestershire Waste 
Safety and Health 
(GWASH) Group also 
attended by the HSE, 
District Council waste 
officers, waste collection 
contractors and Enovert 
South Ltd. Subjects 
covered over the last 12 
months have included:  

 ‘reaclear’ – system for increasing the safety of collection vehicle staff when 
working behind vehicles; 

 guidance on working in hot weather; 

 continued work with the ‘driving recklessly on pavements’ (DROPs) campaign 
fronted by Biffa Waste Services; 

Page 51



Page 20 of 29 
 

 the WISH 24 guidance on road side litter picking safety;  

 safety when clearing waste from refuse collection vehicles after ejecting loads 
at disposal points; 

 methods to help encourage ‘near miss’ reporting. 
 
19. Highway Commissioning 

 
The SHE Panel reports up until April 2019 again were based upon Amey 
Gloucestershire QSE (Quality, Safety, Environment) Reports which summarise 
proactive means of monitoring safety as well as information on accidents. Statistics 
typically cover:  
 

 accident data;  

 days since a RIDDOR reportable accident occurred at each depot;  

 Visual Felt Leadership Visits’ (safety tours) by senior managers to depots and 
work sites;  

 close call’ (near miss) events.  
 
Amey, overall throughout the 5 year contract, had a satisfactory safety record with 
only one major incident in May 2014 which was the cable strike in Eastgate Street 
Gloucester causing severe burns by electrocution causing   life changing injuries to a 
sub-contractor. Post this incident, Amey continued to work safely throughout the 
contract with regular meetings and briefings to all staff. They continued to provide 
health screening on both ‘hand arm vibration’ (HAV) and noise operations throughout 
the contract. 
 
Since April 2019 the responsibility for the 
Term Maintenance Contract (TMC) which 
undertakes minor works, defect repair and 
winter service duties has passed to 
Ringway Infrastructure Services who will 
provide reports similar to the Amey. Format 
 
The professional services contract has 
been allocated to Atkins Limited in April 
2019, Atkins are responsible for the design 
services of schemes for both capital 
projects and externally major schemes allocated through a separate tender process. 
The GCC Structural Maintenance Team continues to carry out the designs for 
Carriageway Major Resurfacing in conjunction with Tarmac and our GCC Street 
Lighting Team design and supervise the maintenance and capital schemes 
undertaken by Skanska. 
 
Highways Commissioning is now involved with many stakeholders providing services 
to GCC, so  a Health and Safety Forum has been established to bring together all 
external stakeholders;  this  meeting will take place  three times per year to share 
ideas and reports from their area of responsibility in order to establish  best practice 
across all of the stakeholders involved. The first meeting occurred in August 2019 at 
Shire Hall. The findings of these meetings will then be reported back to the SHE 
Panel. 

Page 52



Page 21 of 29 
 

 
20. Gloucestershire Fire & Rescue Service 

 
Gloucestershire Fire & Rescue Service (GFRS) is at times required to undertake 
high-risk activities including extinguishing of building fires, effecting rescue of 
persons from road traffic collisions as well as a spectrum of other high risk activities 
such as flooding, HAZMAT, working at height or on water. 
 
To mitigate the risks, GFRS provides extensive training supplemented with the latest 
in personnel protective equipment (PPE) to reduce the risk of accidents and injuries. 
This training is particularly important due to incidents becoming less common as a 
consequence of improvements in education in workplaces and the community, 
providing less incident exposure to personnel. Even with the training and equipment 
provided the nature of the activities will invariably result in health and safety events, 
including injuries to staff. Once a health and safety event has been reported, the 
circumstances of the event will always be investigated and the findings recorded on 
the services electronic recoding system (RIVO). 
 
A report is generated for the Health, Safety and Improvement Group (HSIG) and 
Operational Performance Improvement Group (OPIG), providing details of all health 
and safety events including statistical data. Both HSIG and OPIG are held every 3 
months where all health and safety events are discussed, with any trends identified 
and control measures implemented if necessary.  For risk critical concerns where 
actions need immediate attention, a safety bulletin or ‘Stop and Go’ message will be 
issued to all staff to avoid any delay in critical procedures being addressed.  
 
Health and Safety training 
 
Since August last year a health and safety training programme has been delivered to 
watch based managers and was completed in May with all station based managers 
having participated.  The main purpose of the training was to improve the quality of 
the investigation reports and the timeliness of completion, with the objectives 
focusing on accident investigations, the process in recording the investigations on 
RIVO , the five categories of Health and Safety events, including RIDDOR, as well 
as an overview of OPIG and HSIG. The feedback from the staff has been 
encouraging. 
 
Statistics 
 
The following chart provides information over the last 12 months, broken down into 
quarters and showing the number of health and safety events from the five 
categories (accidents, road traffic collisions (RTC’s), near misses, attacks on fire 
service personnel (AOFSP) and injuries.  The chart also includes the number of 
RIDDOR occurrences. 
 

Page 53



Page 22 of 29 
 

 
 
Injuries   
 
The number of injuries in the quarter has gone up by 2 which represents an increase 
of ~16%.  With the exception of one injury, the injuries are of a minor nature.  One of 
the reasons for the increase was a number of injuries sustained from swift water 
training.  This involves the crews being exposed to fast moving water which adds the 
risk of injury.  These training events are not held often as only involve a small 
number of crew members due to the location of where they are based.  One injuries 
from the swift water training resulted in hospitalisation as the individual sustained a 
dislocated shoulder.  A subsequent investigation by the Service established that the 
injury was sustained by the aggressive style of swimming that was needed to 
undertake the task.  No physical contact occurred that had caused the injury.  This 
was reported to HSE via the RIDDOR process.  
 
Near Misses 
 
The number of near miss incidents has decreased by 42% from the previous quarter 
(12 to 7).  Although this decrease can indicate that there have been fewer 
occurrences of close (potential) accidents or injuries, it can also suggest that the 
near miss events are not all being recorded. From the recent training that has been 
delivered emphasising the importance of recording near miss events and from 
looking at historical statistics for the number of near miss occurrences GF&RS 
believes that this reflects the accurate number of occurrences and is not a case of 
under recording. 
 
Accidents  
 
The number of accidents recorded has increased from the previous quarter, with an 
increase of 67% (6 to 10).  Looking into the circumstances of the recordings of 
accidents, a large majority are from events involving damage to vehicles.  

Injuries Near Miss Accidents RTC's AOFSP RIDDOR

Q2 13 7 10 1 2 1

Q3 12 4 6 8 2 1

Q4 11 12 6 9 2 1

Q1 13 7 10 1 2 1

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

Health & Safety Events Jul 18 - June 19 

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

Page 54



Page 23 of 29 
 

Traditionally all damage involving vehicles was recorded as an RTC which did not 
give a true account of the circumstances as a proportionate amount of incidents 
have occurred at very low speed and not on a highway.  Part of the health and safety 
training covered the need to record accurately and this is a probable reason as to 
why the number of accidents recorded has increased from the previous quarter. 
 
Road Traffic Collisions 
 
There was 1 recording of an RTC in the last quarter compared with 9 in the previous 
quarter, representing an 89% reduction.  The last quarter has seen a reduction in all 
vehicle related events which has reflected in the significant reduction of recordings.  
However, the reduction is not as impressive as it initially appears, as the new way of 
recording damage to vehicles and categorising them into accidents rather than RTCs 
when not involved on the highway means that the RTC recordings will by default be 
reduced.  Conversely the number of accidents recorded will go up, as is the case on 
the last quarter. 
 
Assaults on Fire Service Personnel 
 
It is apparent that the number of incidents has increased over the last 3 years.  
When looking into the circumstances of the events, a large proportion are either 
verbal assault against control operator staff or firefighters undertaking safe and well 
visits. The majority off assaults are verbal rather than physical, with physical assaults 
rare, albeit still occurring as detailed below. 
 
Incidents of Note 
 
Injuries - there was an injury to a firefighter whilst undertaking training for road traffic 
collision extrication.  The scenario involved a van on its side with the driver trapped 
within the vehicle.  To gain access a firefighter was required to climb up a small 
extension ladder to gain access to the driver’s door so that it could be tied open to 
allow access to the driver.  Because of the glass and oil that a vehicle on its side 
produces, plastic salvage sheets were put on the floor prior to the drill to avoid 
damage to the training yard floor. Whilst the firefighter was ascending the ladder 
another firefighter footed the ladder to ensure the heel of the ladder does not kick 
out.  When the driver’s door was being opened the heel of the ladder slipped a small 
amount causing the firefighter on the ladder to momentarily let go of the door he was 
opening and grab hold of the sill of the van for security. Unfortunately the van door 
had not been tied open at this point and came crashing down and onto the 
firefighter’s fingers resulting in the breakage of two fingers. The firefighter was taken 
to hospital where he was given appropriate treatment.  A subsequent RIDDOR 
notification to the HSE was made due to the length of time the firefighter was off 
work.  He is now back at work on full operational duties.  A subsequent investigation 
and recommendations were made that identified the need to remind firefighters in 
the importance of proper footing of a ladder as well as the need to avoid placing the 
heel of the ladder on anything such as plastic salvage sheets that has the potential 
for the ladder to slip.  A health and safety notice was produced to state these 
findings.  
 
AOFSP – within the last quarter there was an incident of a physical assault on a 

Page 55



Page 24 of 29 
 

firefighter carrying out operational 
duties. The crews were called to a fire 
involving a  static caravan that was 
heavily involved in fire.  The person 
who resided in the caravan was in 
attendance and as it was discovered 
was the individual who caused the 
accidental fire. On arrival he was very 
aggressive towards the crews, 
demanding they put the fire out more 
quickly.  With no warning given the 
individual punched one of the 
firefighters in the face.  He was 
immediately restrained and the police called. The firefighter did not want to press any 
charges and therefore it was not pursued further.  The firefighter only received minor 
injuries and was able to continue firefighting.  
 
Below is a breakdown of all health and safety events within the last quarter. 
 

 
 
  

13, 38% 

7, 21% 

10, 29% 

1, 3% 

2, 6% 1, 3% 

Health & Safety Events Apr - June 19 

Injuries Near Miss Accidents RTC's AOFSP RIDDOR

Page 56



Page 25 of 29 
 

Below is a 3 yearly trend for each of the health and safety categories. 
 
Injuries 
 

 
 
Near Misses 
 

 
 

Page 57



Page 26 of 29 
 

Accidents 
 

 
 
RTCs 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 58



Page 27 of 29 
 

Attacks On Fire Service Personnel AOFSP 
 

 
 
The above statistics identify a trend in attacks on fire service personnel (AOFSP).  It 
is apparent that the number of incidents has increased over the last 3 years.  When 
looking into the circumstances of the events, a large proportion are either verbal 
assault against control operator staff or firefighters undertaking safe and well visits. 
The majority off assaults are verbal rather than physical, with the only physical 
assault in the period under review being the incident mentioned above. 
 
The chart below shows the trends for the last 5 years with all health and safety 
events included. 
 

 

Apr 14 - Mar 15 Apr 15 - Mar 16 Apr 16 - Mar 17 Apr 17 - Mar 18 Apr 18 - Mar 19

Injuries 51 43 65 43 46

Near Miss 42 23 28 26 34

Accidents 5 12 18 24 28

RTC's 39 22 23 26 26

AOFSP 2 3 4 6 8

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70

Health & Safety Events April 14 - March 19 

Injuries Near Miss Accidents RTC's AOFSP

Page 59



Page 28 of 29 
 

21. Health and Wellbeing 

 
GCC continues to offer various means to support and promote employees’ health 
and wellbeing including: 
 

 stress management – risk assessment process for individuals and team 
offering solutions; 

 Brilliant Basics training for line managers including ‘absence management’ 
and ‘managing staff under pressure’;  

 Employee Assistance Programme – a 24 hour confidential telephone 
counselling and support, access to information and advice specialists, and on-

line health information; 

 referrals to Occupational Health; including access to counselling and 
physiotherapy; 

 health and wellbeing MOTs; 

 Occupational Health also offers team interventions such as health and 
wellbeing workshops and on-site support from a counsellor after a traumatic 
or critical incident in the workplace; 

 a range of employee clubs and societies such as yoga, mindfulness and 
cycling club that contribute to the health and wellbeing policy.  

 
22. Environmental Compliance 

 
In the context of this report consideration is restricted to environmental legal 
compliance issues rather than wider resource management and carbon reduction 
issues. 
 
Findings from SHE audits again reveal no substantial failings in environmental or 
waste compliance but, rather, occasional minor failings. Historically these have 
included disposal of fluorescent light tubes or paint cans with inert wastes in skips. 
 
The Waste Regulations 2011 increased the legal duty to ensure that the best waste 
management option is selected from the ‘waste hierarchy’ - typically establishments 
are reusing and recycling wherever practicable as an alternative to disposal. The 
audits note that there continues to be a shift towards enhanced recycling with food 
waste for example more commonly being diverted to anaerobic digestion facilities for 
energy recovery; other recent initiatives have included segregation of crisp packets 
into recycling streams. 
 
The Council’s contract for residual waste (waste that cannot be recycled which is 
currently landfilled) is currently progressing with the construction of an Energy from 
Waste plant at Javelin Park which is currently in its ‘hot’ commissioning phase. The 
Council has invested significant resources into maintaining oversight of the contract 
throughout its various phases, from initial contract specification and evaluation and 
then design and construction and commissioning through to the operational phase. 
Although strictly outside the scope of employee safety, this oversight includes 
continued monitoring of health and safety and environmental criteria. SHE is 
represented on the project management team and the team currently undertake 

Page 60



Page 29 of 29 
 

regular monitoring of the construction works to completion and the subsequent 
commissioning phases. 
 
Overall environmental compliance is deemed to be satisfactorily controlled and 
managed across the Council’s operations. 
 
23. Looking Ahead 

 
With little legislative change on the horizon, key activity in 2019/20 in workplace 
safety will include: 

 strengthening existing practices and processes to mitigate risks further 
typically within Children’s Services; 

 providing workshops for LA schools to ensure that they have suitable and 
sufficient risk assessments in place; 

 thoroughly reviewing and revising arrangements for consultation with 
employee on health and safety; 

 checking the position with on site transport at LA school sites in the light of the 
Bridgend case (discussed in paragraph 3 above); 

 acting upon any workplace fire safety factors arising from the Grenfell Tower 
fire (June 2017). 

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet Decision Statement – Wednesday 24 July 2019

Published - Wednesday 24 July 2019

Gloucestershire
County Council

Agenda
Item Decision Portfolio 

5  FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT 2019/20 

Leader of the Council, Cllr Mark Hawthorne, gave an update on the 
year-end forecast for the 2019/20 County Council’s Revenue and 
Capital Budgets

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals, alternative options and reasons for recommendations, 
Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: 

1. Note the forecast revenue year end position as at the end of 
May 2019 for the 2019/20 financial year as showing a net 
£2.956 million overspend against the revenue budget of 
£429.661 million.

2. Note the one off transfer of £0.028 million to GFRS from the 
Transformation Reserve to subsidise travel on a targeted 
basis for key stage 2 and 3 children across Gloucestershire.

3. Note the forecast capital year end position as at the end of 
May 2019 of £1.147million overspend against the current 
budget of £121.537 million

4. Approve the addition of £1.147 million to the Highways 
capital budget funded from a variety of sources as outlined 
in the body of the report.

5. Note the allocation of £1.209 million from the approved 
carriageway resurfacing budget to specific schemes as 
outlined in the body of the report.

Leader of the Council

6  TO CONSIDER THE FUTURE PROVISION OF CARE 
HOMES IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE AND THE RELEVANT 
CONSULTATION 

Cllr Roger Wilson, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care, 
(Commissioning), sought approval for the proposed closures of 
Southfield House Care Home, Stroud, and Wyatt House Care 

Adult Social Care, 
(Commissioning)

Page 63

Agenda Item 12



Home, Stroud and to undertake consultation on the impact of the 
closures.  

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals, alternative options and reasons for recommendations, 
Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: 

1. Approve the closure of Southfield House Care Home, 
Stroud.

2. Agree that any capital receipts arising from the disposal of 
Southfield House Care Home will be ring-fenced for future 
developments for older people in the County.

3. Delegate authority to the Director of Integration, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care 
Commissioning, to:   

                  
i) Consult with residents and families of Southfield 

House Care Home on the impact of and 
arrangements for the closure of the care home.

ii) Facilitate moving the residents to an alternative care 
home that will meets their needs.

4. Approve the closure of Wyatt House Care Home.

5. Agree that any capital receipts arising from the disposal of 
the properties will be ring-fenced for future developments 
for older people in the County.

6. Delegate authority to the Director of Integration, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care 
Commissioning to:   

                  
i) Consult with residents and their families of Wyatt 

House on the impact of and arrangements for the 
closure of the care home.

ii) Facilitate moving the residents to an alternative care 
home that will meet their needs.

7  DELIVERY OF STRUCTURAL MAINTENANCE WORKS 
2020-2022 

Cllr Vernon Smith, Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood, 
sought approval for the procurement and award of a contract for 
the delivery of structural maintenance works from April 2020.  

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals, alternative options and reasons for recommendations, 

Highways and Flood

Page 64



Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: 

Authorise the Lead Commissioner, Highways Authority, to:

1. Carry out a public procurement law compliant competitive 
tender process for the delivery of a two year single provider 
contract for the delivery of structural maintenance works 
commencing 1st April 2020, and 

2. Award such contract (following the conclusion of the said 
competitive tender process) in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Highways and Flood, to the preferred 
provider(s) evaluated as offering the Council best value for 
money for delivery of the required works.

In the event that the preferred provider is either unable or 
unwilling to enter into that contract with the Council then the 
Lead Commissioner, Highways Authority shall be 
authorised to award such contract to the next willing highest 
scoring suitably qualified provider.

8  CHILDREN AND FAMILIES CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
UPDATE 

Cllr Patrick Molyneux, (Cabinet Member for Economy, Education 
and Skills), sought approval to approve changes to the approved 
Children and Families Capital Programme. 

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals, alternative options and reasons for recommendations, 
Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: 

Approve changes to the Children & Families Capital Programme as 
set out in the published decision report, to approve: 

1. A new scheme for the provision of additional places at 
Prestbury St Mary’s C of E Primary School, funded by the 
transfer of £0.270 million from the approved basic need 
provision, and 

2. An additional £0.206 million developer s106 contributions 
for Cleeve Secondary Academy.

Economy, Education 
and Skills

9  TARGETED FAMILY SUPPORT IN CHILDREN AND 
FAMILY CENTRE CONTRACT EXTENSION 

Children’s 
Safeguarding and Early 

Page 65



Cllr Richard Boyles, (Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding 
and Early Years), sought to extend existing contracts for the 
provision of targeted family support services in children and families 
centres located in Gloucester City, Forest of Dean, and in the 
Stroud, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury localities.  

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals, alternative options and reasons for recommendations, 
Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: 

Delegate authority to the Director of Children’s Services to exercise 
the option to extend the current contracts for the provision of 
targeted support services in  the 16 Children and Family Centres 
located in Gloucester City, Forest of Dean, and Stroud, Cheltenham 
and Tewkesbury localities from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2022.

Years

10  ESTABLISHING A DYNAMIC PURCHASING SYSTEM FOR 
THE PROCUREMENT OF TRANSPORT CONTRACTS 

Cllr Nigel Moor, (Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning), 
sought approval to conclude the establishment of a Dynamic 
Purchasing System (DPS) for Transport Services.

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals, alternative options and reasons for recommendations, 
Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: 

Delegate authority to the Lead Commissioner - Community 
Infrastructure to:

1) Conduct a public procurement law compliant 
procurement process for  the establishment of a 
ten year Dynamic Purchasing System (“DPS”) for 
the provision of passenger transport services 
commencing February 2020; 

2) Admit or remove suppliers from the DPS during 
its ten year term in accordance with the selection 
criteria or any revised selection criteria set out in 
the DPS;

3) Procure transport services, using the DPS, from 
providers of Passenger Transport Services 
(including Home to School Transport Services 
and Social Care Transport Services) and award 
contracts for such services up to the value of 
£499,999 in aggregate in respect of any single 
contract award PROVIDED that the Lead 

Environment and 
Planning

Page 66



Commissioner - Community Infrastructure 
reports back to Cabinet on an annual basis 
throughout the term of the DPS with  details of 
the aggregate value of all contracts that were 
awarded using the DPS in the previous year and, 

4) Procure contracts for the supply of transport 
services during financial year 2019/2020 (whose 
estimated aggregate values shall equal £18m) 
from operators admitted to the existing DPS and 
the proposed new DPS; contracts for transport 
services required by the council in subsequent 
financial years shall be the subject of separate 
Cabinet decisions.

11  TENDER AND AWARD OF TRANSPORT CONTRACTS 
UNDER THE DYNAMIC PURCHASING SYSTEM FOR 
TRANSPORT 

Cllr Nigel Moor, (Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning), 
sought approval to use the council’s Dynamic Purchasing System 
(DPS) to procure and award the passenger transport contracts 
referred to in the decision report and to provide feedback on the 
council’s progress in implementing transport related decisions 
agreed in July 2018. .

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals, alternative options and reasons for recommendations, 
Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: 

Authorise the Lead Commissioner: Community Infrastructure to:

1) Use the TDPS in accordance with its terms to undertake 
in each case a legally compliant procurement process to 
procure contracts between July 2019 and July 2021 for 
the provision of each of the local bus services set out in 
Table 1 of the published decision report; 

2) Upon the conclusion of each of the procurement 
processes described in Recommendation 1 above, to 
award a contract to the highest scoring preferred 
provider in each case evaluated as offering the Council 
best value for money for delivery of the services in 
accordance with the TDPS requirements. 

In the event that a preferred provider for a contract is 
either unable or unwilling to enter into a contract with the 
Council then the Lead Commissioner: Community 
Infrastructure is authorised to enter into such contract 
with the next willing, highest scoring, suitably qualified 
provider. 

Environment and 
Planning

Page 67



12  COMMISSIONING OF A POSITIVE BEHAVIOUR SUPPORT 
SERVICE FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE WITH A 
LEARNING DISABILITY/AUTISM 

Cllr Richard Boyles, (Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding 
and Early Years), sought approval to tender for the provision of an 
intensive Positive Behaviour Service for Children and Young 
People with learning disabilities and/or autism.  

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals, alternative options and reasons for recommendations, 
Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: 

a) Approve the commissioning of an intensive positive behaviour 
support service for children and young people, to be facilitated 
by the Provider using a Social Impact Bond;    

b) Delegate authority to the Director of Children’s Services to 
carry out an OJEU compliant competitive tender process and 
award a contract, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years, for a positive 
behaviour support service for children and young people

c) Delegate authority to the Director of Children’s Services to 
develop a commissioning implementation plan, in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and 
Early Years.

Children’s 
Safeguarding and Early 
Years

13  A38/A419 WHITMINSTER ROUNDABOUT BRIDGES AND 
CANAL IMPROVEMENTS (CONTRACT PROCUREMENT 
AND ANCILLARY ORDERS) 

Cllr Vernon Smith, (Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood), 
sought authorisation for the Lead Commissioner, Highway Authority 
to receive funds from Highways England (via Cotswold Canal Trust) 
for the proposes of procuring a contract for works in respect of the 
proposed A38/A419 Whitminster Roundabout Bridges and Canal 
Improvements

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals, alternative options and reasons for recommendations, 
Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: 

Authorise the Lead Commissioner; Highway Authority to:

(1) Receive £4.0m by way of funding from Highways England 

Highways and Flood

Page 68



(via Cotswold Canal Trust) for the purpose of funding a 
contract for works in respect of the proposed A38/A419 
Whitminster Roundabout Bridges and Canal Improvements 
described in this report (the “Contract for Improvement 
Works”);

(2) Permit the council to become the “Client” for the purposes of 
procuring the proposed Contract for Improvement Works;

(3) Conduct, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Environment and Planning, a public procurement law 
compliant tender process for the purpose of awarding the 
proposed Contract for Improvement Works;

(4) Award and enter into the proposed Contract for 
Improvement Works with the preferred tenderer evaluated 
as offering the Council best value for money for delivery of 
the required works or, in the event that the preferred 
tenderer for the contract is either unable or unwilling to enter 
into that contract with the Council, to award and enter into 
such contract with the next willing highest scoring suitably 
qualified tenderer.

The decisions published above will come into force and may be implemented on 1 August 2019, 
unless a request is made for the decision to be called-in.  

CALL-IN PROCEDURE

A decision may only be only called-in if one or more of the following conditions are satisfied: - 

1) The decision conflicts in whole or part with any existing policy that has been formally 
approved or adopted by the Council;  

2) The decision would not be wholly in accordance with the Council’s budget;  

3) In making the decision, the Cabinet, the Leader of the Council, or a Cabinet Member or 
Officer under delegated powers, has taken account of an irrelevant matter or failed to take 
account of a relevant matter, which in the opinion of the Chief Executive, had (or would 
have), a significant bearing on that decision; 

4) The Cabinet, the Leader of the Council, or a Cabinet Member or Officer under delegated 
powers, acted contrary to the Cabinet Procedure Rules, the Access to Information about 
the County Council’s Formal Business, and/or the principles of the decision making set out 
in Part 2, Article 7.02 of the Council’s Constitution. 

At least five members of the council must give notice in writing of their request to call-in a 
decision. 

The request, including reasons for the call-in, must be delivered to the Chief Executive before the 
end of the fifth working day after the day on which the decision is published. 

Page 69



The request for a call-in of any of the decisions above should be made to Jo Moore (DSU) by 5 
pm on 31 July 2019 

For more information on the contents of this Decision Statement, please contact: - 

Jo Moore (Democratic Services Unit)
Tel: 01452 324196; Fax: 01452 425240; email: jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 70

mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


1

REPORT TO FULL COUNCIL – 11 September 2019

Statement of Individual Cabinet Member Decisions
1 June to 31 August 2019

Decision
Date

Cabinet Portfolio 
Holder Decision Key 

Decision

14 Jun 
2019

Cllr Dave 
Norman 

Cabinet Member 
for Public 
Protection, 
Parking and 
Libraries 

Community Library Grant Funding Beyond 
1st April 2021

Having fully considered all the available 
information, the Cabinet Member for Public 
Protection, Parking and Libraries decided to 
reject the alternative options and take the 
recommended decision to: 

Enter into new Revenue Grant agreements with 
each of the eight participating Community 
Libraries in Gloucestershire and to approve 
future grant funding thereunder of £10,000 to 
each Community Library, per year, for a further 
period of 4 years from 1 April 2021.  

for the reasons set out in the published 
decision report

No

9 Jul
2019

Cllr Nigel Moor 

Cabinet Member 
for Environment 
and Planning 

Food Waste Collection and Delivery 
Agreements for Stroud and Cotswold District 
Councils

Having fully considered all the available 
information, including the representations 
received, the Cabinet Member for Environment 
and Planning decided to: 

Reject the recommended decision, (following 
consideration of the representations received in 
response to publication of the decision report 
published on 21 February 2019).  

This decision was rejected. 

No

Page 71

Agenda Item 13



2

7 Aug 
2019

Cllr Lynden 
Stowe

Cabinet Member 
for Finance and 
Change

Procurement for the Provision of Training 
Apprenticeships for Non Qualified Social 
Care Staff in the Children and Families and 
Adults Clusters 

Having fully considered all the available 
information, the Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Change decided to reject the alternative options 
and take the recommended decision to:

Authorise the Director of HR, in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding 
and Early Years and Cabinet Member for Adult 
Social Care (Delivery) to:

1. Conduct an EU public procurement law 
compliant procurement process for the 
purpose of awarding a six year framework 
agreement for the delivery of 
apprenticeships training for non-qualified 
social workers.  The total value of the 
contracts that would be awarded from the 
framework is estimated to be £621k.

2. Upon conclusion of such procurement 
process to award a framework agreement 
to a maximum of two of the highest 
scoring tenderer[s], who meet or exceed 
the council’s minimum award criteria or, in 
the event that any of the highest scoring 
tenderers are either unable or unwilling to 
enter into a framework agreement with the 
council, to enter into such framework 
agreement with the next highest scoring 
able and willing tenderer; and

3. Award up to five call-off contract(s) under 
such framework agreements (up to the 
value of £499,999, in respect of any single 
call-off contract), as appropriate and is 
dependent on the tenderer(s) meeting our 
requirements for the delivery of social 
work apprenticeships or, in the event that 
the preferred provider(s) for such call-off 
contract(s) are either unable or unwilling 
to enter into those contract(s), to enter into 
such call-off contract(s) with the next 
highest scoring able and willing framework 
provider(s).  The term of each such call off 

Yes

Page 72



3

contract shall be for a period not 
exceeding three years.  

Any call-off contracts whose value will exceed 
£250k will be made in consultation with the 
relevant Cabinet Member. 

Any call-off contract whose value will equal 
£500,000 or more must be the subject of a 
separate Cabinet Decision.

For the reasons set out in the report.

7 Aug 
2019

Cllr Lynden 
Stowe

Cabinet Member 
for Finance and 
Change

Procurement of Schools Information 
Management System
(“IMS”) & Accounting Software

Having fully considered all the available 
information, the Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Change decided to reject the alternative options 
and take the recommended decision to:

Delegate authority to the Director of Human 
Resources to:

(1) Carry out a public procurement law compliant 
procurement process, using a Crown 
Commercial Service framework agreement, for 
the award of a one year call-off contract for the 
provision of Schools IMS & Accounting Software 
from February 2020, which will enable the 
Council to continue to support schools with their 
Information Management System and Financial 
Management System requirements.  Such 
contract will include an option to extend its term 
by one further year on each of the first, second, 
third and fourth anniversaries thereof (that is, a 
maximum term of five years). 

(2) Following completion of such procurement 
process, to direct award and enter into a 
contract with the supplier (Capita) as per the 
terms of the CCS Framework agreement.  

(3) Authorise the Head of Legal Services to 
execute such contract by affixing the council’s 
seal thereto and 

Yes

Page 73



4

(4) Authorise the Head of ICT to exercise each 
of the options to extend the term of the contract 
annually as required, up to the maximum of 5 
years in total described in Recommendation 1.

For the reasons set out in the report 

12 Aug  
2019

Cllr Roger 
Wilson 

Cabinet Member 
for Adult Social 
Care 
(Commissioning) 

Extension of Contracts 
for Community and Accommodation Based 
Support Services

Having fully considered all the available 
information, the Cabinet Member for Adult Social 
Care (Commissioning) decided to reject the 
alternative options and take the recommended 
decision to: 

Authorise the Director of Public Health to 
exercise the contractual options to extend the 
existing contracts for Community and 
Accommodation Based Support Services to start 
on 1st October 2019 and finish on 31st March 
2020. 

for the reasons set out in the published 
decision report. 

Yes

19 Aug
2019

Cllr Lynden 
Stowe

Cabinet Member 
for Finance and 
Change 

Extension to the Current Contract for the 
Supply of Agency Workers 

Having fully considered all the available 
information, the Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Change decided to reject the alternative options 
and take the recommended decision to: 

Delegate Authority to the Director of People to 
exercise an option contained in the GRI 
(Geometric Results International) Contract to 
extend its term by one year to expire on 31st 
August 2020.

For the reasons set out in the report.

Yes

Page 74



5

Please contact Jo Moore, (Democratic Services Unit), if you have any queries about the 
decisions referred to in this statement. 

Tel: 01452 324196 Email: jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Page 75

mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



CALENDAR OF MEETINGS 2020

MEETING JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC

County Council   10am 12 25 13 24 9 25

Cabinet  10am 29 11 22 17 22 7 11 16

Appointments Committee  3pm 6

Constitution Committee  3pm 9 8 12

Appeals Panel: Access to Education 10am 31 6 13 29 7 12 10 4 4 16 6 3

Planning Site Visit
Planning Committee  10am 

23
30

12
19

11
14

2
9

3
10

12
19

Commons & Rights of Way Committee 10am 
Traffic Regulation Committee  10am 4

24
21

30
23 7

6 2
1

Audit and Governance Committee  10am 24 24 24 9

Corporate Overview Scrutiny Committee  10am 9 20 18 23 30 27

Adult Social Care & Communities Scrutiny 
Committee 10am

28 10 26 7 8 10

Children & Families Scrutiny Committee  10am 16 5 21 16 17 26

Environment Scrutiny   Committee   10am 15 4 20 15 23 24

Police Crime Panel   10am 3 27 17 18 6

Health Scrutiny Committee   10am 14 3 19 14 15 17

Glos. Health & Wellbeing Board  10am 21 17 12 21 22 3

Joint Waste Committee   10am 11 16 13 8

Pensions Committee  10am 14 15 25 13 4

Economic Growth Joint Com  10am 
Economic Growth Scrutiny Com 1.30pm 26

18
18

3
3

9
9 21

18
18

Members’ Seminar  10am 24 22 19
SHE Panel  10am 25 8 14

P
age 77

A
genda Item

 15



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	6 Corporate Parenting
	10 Scrutiny report
	11 Safety, Health and Environment (SHE) report
	12 Cabinet Decision Statement
	13 Cabinet Member Decision Statements
	15 Calendar of meetings

